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Message from the Board Members

This fiscal year 2022 Performance and Accountability Report highlights the goals and
accomplishments of the Railroad Retirement Board (RRB) in achieving its mission of
administering the retirement, disability, and survivor benefit programs provided under the
Railroad Retirement Act (RRA), and the unemployment and sickness insurance benefit
programs provided under the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act (RUIA). This report
describes our continuing efforts to provide timely and useful information to RRB managers,
the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), Congress, and our constituents. We are
proud of the agency’s dedicated employees whose achievements are reflected in this report.

Under provisions of the Budget Control Act of 2011 (BCA), across-the-board cuts in Federal
spending took effect March 1, 2013. While railroad retirement, survivor and disability
payments are not affected by this measure, unemployment and sickness insurance benefits
payable October 1, 2019 through September 30, 2020, were reduced by 5.9 percent. The
reduction was required by the sequestration order issued by the President in accordance
with the BCA. For fiscal year 2021, a sequestration reduction of 5.7 percent was applied
starting October 1, 2020 through January 2, 2021. For fiscal year 2022 and 2023, due to the
pandemic, the sequestration order continued to be temporarily lifted under the Continued
Assistance to Rail Workers Act of 2020 for days beginning January 3, 2021 and will be re-
instated following the Presidential declaration of the end of the national emergency caused
by the same.

We believe the performance and financial data presented in this report are complete and
reliable in accordance with OMB guidance. The adequacy and effectiveness of our
management controls and the compliance of our financial management systems with
government-wide requirements are delineated in the Systems, Controls and Legal
Compliance part of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis section. That part also
provides status of our integration of Enterprise Risk Management into our existing
Management Control Review Program, describes progress toward Federal Information
Security Modernization Act (FISMA) compliance, and overviews Financial Management
Systems Strategy. While we disagree with the material weaknesses that the auditors state
reportedly exist, we continue to strengthen our management control review program, internal
controls and implement solutions that enhance our operational effectiveness and efficiency.

We will continue to apply information technology and innovation to provide excellent

customer service to the railroad employers, railroad employees, and the beneficiaries whom
we serve. We are also committed to prudent stewardship over the agency trust.

Original signed by:

Erhard R. Chorlé, Chairman
John Bragg, Labor Member

Thomas Jayne, Management Member

November 15, 2022
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Overview of the Railroad Retirement Board

Mission

The RRB is an independent agency in the executive branch of the Federal Government. The
agency’s mission statement is as follows:

The RRB’s mission is to administer retirement/survivor and unemployment/sickness
insurance benefit programs for railroad workers and their families under the Railroad
Retirement Act and the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act. These programs provide
income protection during old age and in the event of disability, death or temporary
unemployment and sickness. The RRB also administers aspects of the Medicare
program and has administrative responsibilities under the Social Security Act and the
Internal Revenue Code. In carrying out its mission, the RRB will pay benefits to the right
people, in the right amounts, in a timely manner, and will take appropriate action to
safeguard our customers’ trust funds. The RRB will treat every person who comes into
contact with the agency with courtesy and concern, and respond to all inquiries promptly,
accurately and clearly.

Major Program Areas

The RRB was created in the 1930s by legislation establishing a retirement benefit program for
the nation’s railroad workers. Private industrial pension plans had been pioneered in the
railroad industry; the first industrial pension plan in North America was established on a railroad
in 1874. By the 1930s, pension plans were far more developed in the rail industry than in most
other businesses or industries, but these plans had serious defects, which were magnified by
the Great Depression.

The economic conditions of the 1930s demonstrated the need for retirement plans on a national
basis because few of the nation’s elderly were covered under any type of retirement program.
While the social security system was in the planning stage, railroad workers sought a separate
railroad retirement system which would continue and broaden the existing railroad programs
under a uniform national plan. The proposed social security system was not scheduled to begin
monthly benefit payments for several years and would not give credit for service performed prior
to 1937, while conditions in the railroad industry called for immediate benefit payments based
on prior service.

Legislation was enacted in 1934, 1935, and 1937 to establish a railroad retirement system
separate from the social security program legislated in 1935. Such legislation, taking into
account particular circumstances of the rail industry, was not without precedent. Numerous
laws pertaining to rail operations and safety had already been enacted since the Interstate
Commerce Act of 1887. Since passage of the Railroad Retirement Acts of the 1930s,
numerous other railroad laws have been enacted.

While the railroad retirement system has remained separate from the social security system, the
two systems are closely coordinated with regard to earnings credits, benefit payments, and
taxes. The financing of the two systems is linked through a financial interchange under which,
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in effect, the portion of railroad retirement annuities that is equivalent to social security benefits
is coordinated with the social security system. The purpose of this financial coordination is to
place the social security trust funds in the same position they would be in if railroad service were
covered by the social security program instead of the railroad retirement program.

Legislation enacted in 1974 restructured railroad retirement benefits into two tiers, so as to
coordinate them more fully with social security benefits. The first tier is based on combined
railroad retirement and social security credits, using social security benefit formulas. The
second tier is based on railroad service only and is comparable to the private pensions paid
over and above social security benefits in other industries.

The railroad unemployment insurance system was also established in the 1930s. The Great
Depression demonstrated the need for unemployment compensation programs, and State
unemployment programs had been established under the Social Security Act in 1935. While the
State unemployment programs generally covered railroad workers, railroad operations which
crossed State lines caused special problems. Unemployed railroad workers were denied
compensation by one State because their employers had paid unemployment taxes in another
State. Although there were cases where employees appeared to be covered in more than one
State, they often did not qualify in any.

A Federal study commission, which reported on the nationwide State plans for unemployment
insurance, recommended that railroad workers be covered by a separate plan because of the
complications their coverage had caused the State plans. Congress subsequently enacted the
RUIA in June 1938. The RUIA established a system of benefits for unemployed railroad
workers, financed entirely by railroad employers and administered by the RRB. Sickness
insurance benefits were added in 1946.

Railroad Retirement Act

Under the RRA, retirement and disability annuities are paid to railroad workers with at least 10
years of service. Such annuities are also payable to workers with 5 years of service if
performed after 1995.

Full age annuities are payable at age 60 to workers with 30 years of service. For those with
less than 30 years of service, reduced annuities are payable at age 62 and unreduced annuities
are payable at full retirement age, which is gradually rising from 65 to 67, depending on the year
of birth. Disability annuities can be paid on the basis of total or occupational disability.

Annuities are also payable to spouses and divorced spouses of retired workers and to
widow(er)s, surviving divorced spouses, remarried widow(er)s, children, and parents of
deceased railroad workers. Qualified railroad retirement beneficiaries are covered by Medicare
at age 65, or earlier if disabled, in the same way as social security beneficiaries.

Jurisdiction over the payment of retirement and survivor benefits is shared by the RRB and the
Social Security Administration (SSA). The RRB has jurisdiction over the payment of retirement
benefits if the employee had at least 10 years of railroad service, or 5 years if performed after
1995. For survivor benefits, there is an additional requirement that the employee’s last regular
employment before retirement or death was in the railroad industry. If a railroad employee or
his or her survivors do not qualify for railroad retirement benefits, the RRB transfers the
employee’s railroad retirement credits to SSA, where they are treated as social security credits.
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Payroll taxes paid by railroad employers and their employees are the primary source of funding
for the railroad retirement and survivor benefit programs. By law, railroad retirement taxes are
coordinated with social security taxes. Employees and employers pay tier | taxes at the same
rate as social security taxes. In addition, both employees and employers pay tier 1l taxes which
are used to finance railroad retirement benefit payments over and above social security levels.
Tier Il taxes are based on the ratio of certain asset balances to the sum of benefit payments and
administrative expenses. Historically, railroad retirement taxes have been considerably higher
than social security taxes.

Revenues in excess of benefit payments are invested to provide additional trust fund income,
and legislation enacted in 2001 allows for Railroad Retirement (RR) Account funds transferred
to the National Railroad Retirement Investment Trust (NRRIT) to be invested in non-
governmental assets, as well as in governmental securities. Funds transferred from the Social
Security Equivalent Benefit (SSEB) Account to the NRRIT are allowed to be invested only in
governmental securities. The legislation also established the NRRIT, whose Board of seven
trustees oversees these investments. The Board of Trustees is comprised of three members
selected by rail labor, three members selected by rail management, and one independent
member selected by a majority of the other six members.

Another major source of income to the railroad retirement and survivor benefit program consists
of transfers from the social security trust funds under a financial interchange between the two
systems. The financial interchange is intended to place the social security trust funds in the
same position in which they would have been had railroad employment been covered by the
Social Security Act and Federal Insurance Contributions Act. In fiscal year 2022, the RRB trust
funds realized a net of $5.1 billion, representing 43 percent of RRB financing sources (excluding
transfers to/from the NRRIT and the change in NRRIT net assets), through the financial
interchange.

Other sources of income currently include revenue resulting from Federal income taxes on
railroad retirement benefits (tier |, tier I, and vested dual benefits), and appropriations from
general Department of the Treasury (Treasury) revenues provided after 1974 as part of a
phase-out of certain vested dual benefits.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act

Under the RUIA, unemployment insurance benefits are paid to qualified railroad workers who
are unemployed but ready, willing, and able to work, and sickness insurance benefits are paid to
railroad workers who are unable to work because of illness, injury, or pregnancy. The RRB also
operates a placement service to assist unemployed railroad workers in securing employment.

A new unemployment and sickness insurance benefit year begins every July 1, with eligibility
generally based on railroad service and earnings in the preceding calendar year. Up to 26
weeks of normal unemployment and 26 weeks of sickness insurance benefits are payable to an
individual in a benefit year. Additional extended benefits are payable for up to 13 weeks to
persons with 10 or more years of service.

The railroad unemployment and sickness insurance benefit program is financed by taxes on
railroad employers under an experience rating system initiated in 1991. Each employer’s
payroll tax rate is determined annually by the RRB on the basis of benefit payments to the
railroad’s employees.
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Reporting Components

The RRB, as an independent agency in the executive branch of the U.S. Government, is
responsible for administering the RRA and the RUIA. The financial statements include the
accounts of all funds under the control of the RRB and the OIG. These funds consist of three
administrative funds, four trust funds, five general funds, one American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009 fund, one Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of
2009 funds, five Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 funds, and five
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 funds.

RRB Organizational Structure

The RRB is headed by three Board Members appointed by the President of the United States,
with the advice and consent of the Senate. One member is appointed upon recommendation of
railroad employers; one is appointed upon recommendation of railroad labor organizations; and
the third, who is the Chairman, is appointed to represent the public interest. The Board
Members’ terms of office are 5 years and are scheduled to expire in different years. The
Chairman of the Board is Erhard R. Chorlé, the Labor Member is John Bragg, and the
Management Member is Thomas Jayne. The President also appoints an Inspector General for
the RRB; the Inspector General is Martin J. Dickman.

The primary function of the RRB is the determination and payment of benefits under the
railroad retirement and survivor and the unemployment and sickness insurance programs. To
this end, the RRB employs field representatives to assist railroad personnel and their families
in filing claims for benefits, examiners to adjudicate the claims, and information technology staff
to ensure equipment and programs maintain earnings records, calculate benefits, and process
payments. The RRB also employs actuaries to predict the income and outlays of the agency’s
trust funds and accounts, statisticians and economists to provide vital data, and attorneys to
interpret legislation and represent the RRB in litigation. Internal administration requires a
procurement staff, a budget and accounting staff, quality assurance staff, and personnel
specialists. The Inspector General employs auditors and investigators to detect waste, fraud,
or abuse in the benefit programs.

The RRB’s headquarters is located at 844 North Rush Street in Chicago, lllinois. The RRB field
structure is comprised of 53 offices located throughout the United States as shown on page 12.

-10 -
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Performance Goals, Objectives, and Results

During fiscal year 2022 (ended September 30, 2022), benefit payments totaled $13.6 billion, net
of recoveries and offsetting collections. Of this amount, benefit payments for the railroad
retirement and survivor benefits program totaled $13.5 billion, for the railroad unemployment and
sickness insurance benefits program totaled $90.4 million, for the CARES Act programs totaled
($3.1) million, and vested dual benefits program totaled $9.5 million, net of recoveries and
offsetting collections. During fiscal year 2022, the RRB also paid benefits on behalf of SSA (for
which the RRB is reimbursed) amounting to $2.2 billion to about 126,000 beneficiaries.

In fiscal year 2022, the RRB continued to focus its efforts on providing excellent customer
service to current and former railroad workers and their family members. Our regular workloads
in fiscal year 2022 included:

Providing payments to about 506,000 retirement and survivor beneficiaries.

Providing payments to about 6,000 unemployment insurance beneficiaries.

Providing payments to about 17,000 sickness insurance beneficiaries.

Providing payments to about 4,000 vested dual benefit beneficiaries.

Processing 14,481 retirement, survivor, and disability applications for benefits (through

April 30, 2022).

o Processing 84,421 applications and claims for unemployment and sickness insurance
benefits (through April 30, 2022).

e |ssuing 213,311 certificates of employee railroad service and compensation (mailed on

June 10, 2022).

During fiscal year 2022, the RRB used 30 specific program performance objectives, including
several with multiple indicators, to manage and track progress in meeting its long-term strategic
plan goals. These objectives were accomplished with a direct appropriation of $124,000,000. (A
breakdown of administrative expenses by strategic goal is not available at the time of this report.)
Agency performance with respect to the key performance indicators is covered in the following
section. For most performance measures, actual full-year performance results for fiscal year
2022 were not available at the time this report was published. For those objectives, we reported
part-year performance information for fiscal year 2022, if available. We also reported actual
results from prior years, as applicable.

Summary of Achievement by Strateqic Goal for Fiscal Year 2022

Strategic Goal I: Modernize Information Technology (IT) Operations to sustain mission
essential services. During fiscal year 2022, we continued efforts in the Stabilize phase to
leverage current technologies within RRB’s infrastructure, which will serve as the foundation for
the next phase, Modernize.

Strategic Goal ll: Provide Excellent Customer Service. For fiscal year 2022, we met or
exceeded most of timeliness goals and maintained the level of Internet services available to
employers.

Strategic Goal lll: Serve as Responsible Stewards for Our Customers’ Trust Funds and

Agency Resources. In fiscal year 2022, the RRB continued to fulfill its fiduciary responsibilities
to the rail community. Additionally, benefit payment accuracy rates met or exceeded targets.

13-



Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Strategic Goals and Objectives

For fiscal year 2022, the three overriding strategic goals were Modernizing Information
Technology (IT) operations, providing excellent customer service and serving as responsible
stewards of our customer’s trust funds. The IT operations initiative involved utilizing a three-
phased approach to enable RRB is accomplish its mission essential functions in a secure,
reliable enterprise IT environment, streamline core business processes, and achieve more
efficient and effective benefits administration. The service initiative involved continuing to
achieve our customers’ expectations for customized, high-quality service as well as position the
agency to achieve rising customer expectations for new and improved services in the future.
The stewardship initiative was multifaceted and involved protecting the trust funds, fulfilling
responsibilities, ensuring the accuracy and integrity of benefit payments as well as addressing
efficacy of security operations. The three strategic goals are summarized below:

STRATEGIC GOAL I: Modernize Information Technology (IT) Operations to Sustain
Mission Essential Services

Today, our mission essential programs are straining under the burden of being maintained by
legacy computer systems built 40 years ago. Our workforce is rapidly aging, with the average
employee serving 30 years at retirement. Institutional knowledge diminishes as this workforce
retires and it is increasingly difficult to find the legacy skills needed to maintain these systems.
To continue providing the excellent service to our beneficiaries, we need to transform these
legacy systems through automation and build modern digital services while safeguarding
information anywhere, anytime, in all ways throughout the information life cycle. Our strategy to
modernize encompasses multiple iterations over various phases in a new environment to
minimize impact to the current legacy environment.

Our performance plan, submitted as a component of our FY 2022 Justification of Budget
Estimates, includes the following strategic objective to facilitate achieving this goal.

Strategic Objective I-A: Legacy Systems Modernization

The primary focus is to complete the transformation to the new platform and simplify core
business processes to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of mission-critical applications
and services. The RRB will continuously monitor, measure, and perform value driven services to
ensure the predictable outcome of a successful modernization for IT operations to sustain
essential services. To achieve this goal, we are deploying agile principles such as breaking up
multi-yearlong projects into a series of short releases focused on the most critical or Key
Performance Indicators to increase the opportunity for success. Additionally, we are
implementing frequent standup meetings, or daily scrums, as an effective mean to convey
information, and to facilitate quick resolution of identified risks and issues.

The performance indicators that we will utilize to assess our progress toward our strategic
objective are as follows:

e Prepare to consolidate and rationalize applications to improve the effectiveness and
efficiency of mission essential functions.

o Evaluate the results of the customer surveys obtained through the LSMS re-
engineering assessment contract deliverable to identify and deliver a broader range of
online citizen centric services that will specifically address our customer’s
expectations and improve overall customer service.

e Transition Mission Essential Programs from the End-of-Life Mainframe hardware.

-14 -
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o Evaluate the re-engineering assessment contract deliverable and determine a
modernization path forward consistent with agency priorities and within available
funding to address mission critical functions.

¢ Enhance infrastructure components to stabilize the information systems and the
related ecosystems to prepare for the modernize phase.

o Complete the development of business rules strategy and data layer components of
the modernization.

o Deliver citizen-centric services and applications to railroad employees through mobile-
and web-ready interfaces.

o Complete the streamlining of core business processes and modernize key
applications, which support these processes.

e Refine critical management processes in the following areas within the IT
organization: change, project, program, and configuration.

e Evaluate the reengineering assessment deliverables to determine a cost-effective
path forward to application rationalization and streamline business processes.

STRATEGIC GOAL ll: Provide Excellent Customer Service

We aim to satisfy our customers’ expectations for quality service both in terms of service delivery
options and levels and manner of performance. Our performance plan, submitted as a
component of our FY 2022 Justification of Budget Estimates, includes the following strategic
objectives to facilitate achieving this goal.

Strategic Objective lI-A: Pay benefits timely.
Strategic Objective lI-B: Provide a range of choices in service delivery methods.

STRATEGIC GOAL lll: Serve as Responsible Stewards for our Customers’ Trust Funds
and Agency Resources

The RRB is committed to fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities to the rail community. Our
performance plan, submitted as a component of our FY 2022 Justification of Budget Estimates,
includes the following strategic objectives to facilitate achieving this goal.

Strategic Objective lll-A: Ensure that trust fund assets are protected, collected,
recorded, and reported appropriately.

Strategic Objective IlI-B: Ensure the accuracy and integrity of benefit programs.
Strategic Objective llI-C: Ensure effectiveness, efficiency, and security of operations.
Strategic Objective llI-D: Effectively carry out responsibilities with respect to the
NRRIT.

Validation of Performance Information. The RRB has implemented comprehensive
administrative procedures to ensure that reported performance information is accurate and valid.
Administrative Circular RRB-2 establishes standards and assigns responsibility for collecting,
documenting, validating, certifying, reporting and retaining information related to the actual
performance data reported for objectives in the RRB’s Annual Performance Budget and
Government Performance and Results Act Report.

The procedures require that reporting managers develop and maintain written procedures for:

-15-
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Collecting data related to each objective,

Testing and validating performance data to ensure accuracy,
Retaining source documents for future reference, and
Attesting to the accuracy of performance information reported.

Members of the RRB’s Executive Committee review performance issues related to their areas of
responsibility and assign follow-up action, as necessary. The Executive Committee also reviews
and approves performance reports before releasing the drafts for approval by the Board
Members.

The following begins a discussion of our key performance indicators.
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Discussion of Key Performance Indicators

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

The RRB has identified the following 10 key performance indicators, which represent our most

important responsibilities.

Key performance indicator 1: Timeliness of initial railroad retirement annuity payments,

when advanced filed (Objective 1I-A-1)

FY 2022 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2022 performance: 96.6%
through the 2" quarter

We are achieving our goal. Automation plays a
key role in assuring benefit payment timeliness
for this performance indicator.

FY 2021 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2021 performance: 97.0%

Data definition: This goal is included in the
RRB Customer Service Plan.

The RRB makes a decision to pay or
deny a railroad retirement employee or
spouse initial annuity application within
35 days of the annuity beginning date, if
advanced filed.
(FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

100%

95%

90% -

0, -
85% FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

OGoal 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0%

BActual| 95.4% 96.4% 97.0% 96.6%

Key performance indicator 2: Timeliness of initial railroad retirement annuity payments,

if not advanced filed (Objective 1I-A-2)

FY 2022 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2022 performance: 95.7%
through the 2" quarter

We are achieving our goal. Automation plays a
key role in assuring benefit payment timeliness
for this performance indicator.

FY 2021 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2021 performance: 97.0%

Data definition: This goal is included in the RRB
Customer Service Plan.
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The RRB makes a decision to pay or
deny a railroad retirement employee or
spouse initial annuity application within
60 days of the date the application was
filed.
(FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

100%

95%

90% -

0, il
85% FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

OGoal 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0%

BActual | 96.5% 97.5% 97.0% 95.7%




Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Key performance indicator 3: Timeliness of new survivor benefit payments

(Objective II-A-3)

FY 2022 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2022 performance: 88.2%
through the 2" quarter

We are not achieving our goal. Automation
plays a key role in assuring benefit payment
timeliness for this performance indicator.

FY 2021 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2021 performance: 92.2%

Data definition: This goal is included in the
RRB Customer Service Plan.

RRB makes a decision to pay, deny or
transfer to SSA an initial annuity
application for a retirement survivor not
already receiving a benefit within 60 days
of the annuity beginning date or date filed
(whichever is later).

(FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

100%
95%
90% -
0, -
85% FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
OGoal 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0%
WActual | 96.0% 95.0% 92.2% 88.2%

Key performance indicator 4: Timeliness of spouse to survivor benefit payment

conversions (Objective II-A-4)

FY 2022 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2022 performance: 93.8%
through the 2" quarter

We are not achieving our goal. Automation
plays a key role in assuring benefit payment
timeliness for this performance indicator.

FY 2021 goal: 94.0%
Our FY 2021 performance: 94.8%

Data definition: This goal is included in the
RRB Customer Service Plan.

RRB makes a decision to pay, deny or
transfer to SSA an initial annuity
application for a survivor already receiving
benefits as a spouse within 30 days of the
RRB's receipt of first notice of the
employee's death.

(FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

100%

95%

90% -

o, 4

85% FY19 | FY20 | FY21 FY22
OGoal | 94.0% | 94.0% | 94.0% | 94.0%
BActual| 96.6% | 95.2% | 94.8% | 93.8%
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Key performance indicator 5: Timeliness of unemployment or sickness insurance
payments (Objective I1-A-6)

FY 2022 goal: 98'52/0 RRB certifies a payment or releases a
Our FY 2022 performance: 99.9% letter of denial of Ul or Sl benefits
through the 2" quarter within 10 days of the date the RRB

receives the claim.
.. . (FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)
We are achieving our goal. Automation plays

a key role in assuring benefit payment timeliness
for this performance indicator. 100.0%

FY 2021 goal: 98.5% 95.0% -
Our FY 2021 performance: 99.9%
90.0% -
Data definition: This goal is included in the
RRB Customer Service Plan. 850% Y19 | Fy20 | FY21 | Fy22
DGoal | 98.0% | 98.5% | 98.5% | 98.5%
WActual| 99.9% | 99.9% | 99.9% | 99.9%

Key performance indicator 6: Timeliness of disability decisions (Objective II-A-7)

FY 2022 goal: 70.0%
Our FY 2022 performance: 12.6%
through the 2" quarter

The RRB makes a decision to pay or deny
a benefit for a disabled applicant or family
member within 100 days of the date the

We are not achieving our goal. application is filed.
g 9 (FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

FY 2021 goal: 70.0%

Our FY 2021 performance: 18.6% 80%

Initial disability decision timeliness performance 55% -

was below the goal of 70% within 100 days for

multiple reasons, including a continued effort in 30% -

the Disability Benefits Division (DBD) to finalize

decisions on cases that were greater than 2 5% 519 ﬁ% Y21 | FY22
years old. At the start of Fiscal Year 2022, cases DOGoal 70.0% 70.0% 70.0% 70.0%
with filing dates 2020 and earlier was 26.4% of BActual| 12.5% | 13.5% | 18.6% | 12.6%

the total workload balance. At the end of the
second quarter, this balance was significantly
reduced to 8.5% of the pending work, a 62.2%
reduction. At the start of FY 2022, there were approximately 1650 cases pending, which is a
6.8% workload reduction compared to FY 2021 start.

This fiscal year, DBD lost initial claims examiners to promotions and other agencies that equated
to a 28% in staffing loss. Despite staffing losses resulting in an approximate 17.2% increase in
total pending, the DBD initial examiner team made progress to reduce the cases with older filing
dates. In FY22, the DBD plans to increase staffing to include additional initial examiners that will
assist in the continued reduction of pending cases and will improve the Division’s overall
performance.
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Data Definition: This goal is included in the RRB Customer Service Plan.

Key performance indicator 7: Initial recurring retirement payment accuracy
(Objective llI-B-1a)

Our overall strategic goal is to achieve a railroad retirement benefit payment recurring accuracy
rate of at least 99 percent on our initial processing of applications for retirement (employee,
spouse and widow) benefits.

FY 2022 goal: 99.50%

Our FY 2022 performance: 99.82% Initial Retirement Payment
Accuracy

L. (FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)
We are achieving our goal.

Automation plays a key roll in assuring benefit
payment timeliness for this performance indicator.

100%

FY 2021 goal: 99.50% 99% ||
Our FY 2021 performance: 99.79%

We achieved our goal. 98% T—Ev1e T Fy20 | Fy21 | Fy22
Automation plays a key role in assuring initial OGoal | 99.60% | 99.50% | 99.50% | 99.50%
benefit payment accuracy by reducing the number mActual| 99.83% | 99.57% | 99.79% | 99.82%

of erroneous payments. Automation will become
more critical in this area as experienced personnel
retire in the coming years.

Data definition: This is the percentage of the dollar value of initial recurring retirement benefit
payments paid correctly as a result of adjudication actions performed, based on a review of a
sample of cases.
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Key performance indicator 8: Unemployment insurance payment accuracy

(Objective llI-B-2a)

Our overall strategic goal is to achieve a railroad
unemployment insurance benefit payment accuracy
rate of at least 99 percent.

FY 2022 goal: 95.50%
Our FY 2022 performance: 93.97%
through the 2" quarter

We are not achieving our goal. Automation plays
a key role in assuring benefit payment timeliness for
this performance indicator.

FY 2021 goal: 95.00%
Our FY 2021 performance: 97.58%

Data definition: This is the percentage of the

Unemployment Insurance Payment
Accuracy
(FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

100%
98%
96%
94% -
92% -
90% -

FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22
OGoal | 97.00% | 96.50% | 95.00% | 95.50%
BActual | 96.23% | 96.62% | 97.58% | 93.97%

dollar value of unemployment insurance benefit payments paid correctly as a result of
adjudication actions performed, based on a review of a sample of cases.

Key performance indicator 9: Sickness insurance payment accuracy (Objective IlI-B-2b)

Our overall strategic goal is to achieve a railroad
sickness insurance benefit payment accuracy rate of
at least 99 percent.

FY 2022 goal: 95.00%
Our FY 2022 performance: 97.32%
through the 2" quarter

We are achieving our goal. Automation plays a key
role in assuring benefit payment timeliness for this
performance indicator.

FY 2021 goal: 96.00%
Our FY 2021 performance: 97.38%

Sickness Insurance Payment
Accuracy
(FY 22 actual is through 3-31-22)

100%

98% -

96% -

94% -

FY19 | FY20 | FY21 | FY22
DOGoal |97.50% |97.50% | 96.00% | 95.00%
BActual |97.93% | 97.88% | 97.38% | 97.32%

Data definition: This is the percentage of the dollar value of sickness insurance benefit
payments paid correctly as a result of adjudication actions performed, based on a review of a

sample of cases.
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Key performance indicator 10: Return on investment in program integrity activities
(Objective 1lI-B-5)

FY 2022 goal: $ 3.85: $1 Achieve a return of at least $3.60 for each
Our FY 2022 performance: N/A dollar spent on program Integrity
activities.

(FY 22 Not Available)

FY 2021 goal: $3.70: $1
Our FY 2021 performance: $7.38: $1 36.50
$4.50
We achieved our goal.
Our fiscal year 2021 goal was to achieve a $2.50 1
return of $3.70 for each dollar spent on program $0.50 - 21 T FYz2
integrity activities. We achieved a rate of return DGoal | $3.85 | $3.85 | $370 | $3.85
of $7.38 for each dollar spent. mActual| $6.66 | $6.03 | $7.38

As part of our fiduciary responsibilities to the rail
community, we must ensure that the correct
benefit amounts are being paid to the right people. We match our benefit payments against
SSA’s earnings and benefits database, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services’ (CMS)
utilization and death records, the Office of Personnel Management’s benefit records, and State
wage reports, usually via data exchange files, and administer other benefit monitoring programs
to identify and prevent erroneous payments. We also refer some cases to the OIG for
investigation. After investigation, the OIG may pursue more aggressive collection methods,
which include civil and criminal prosecution.

Data definition: This is the ratio of the sum of the dollar recoveries and savings, to the labor
dollars spent.

Analysis of Financial Statements and Stewardship Information

Amounts in the RR Account not needed to pay current benefits and administrative expenses are
transferred to the NRRIT whose Board of seven trustees is empowered to invest NRRIT assets
in non-governmental assets, such as equities and debt, as well as in governmental securities.
Amounts in the SSEB Account not needed to pay current benefits and administrative expenses
are transferred to either the RR Account or the NRRIT.

Shown on the following page are snapshots of the net position, financing sources, and benefit

payments (before elimination of inter-fund transactions) for the RRB accounts. All dollar
amounts are in millions.
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Net Position, Financing Sources, and Benefit Payments (Unaudited)

(In'millions)
2022 2021
NET POSITION AT SEPTEMBER 30
Social Security Equivalent Benefit Account $544.8 $426.0
Railroad Retirement Account 1/ 23,267.9 28,973.0
Railroad Retirement Administrative Fund 62.5 44.3
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund -
Benefit Payments 95.2 (69.9)
Administrative Expenses 6.5 6.8
Limitation on the Office of Inspector General 9.1 8.5
Dual Benefits Payments Account 8.2 7.7
Federal Payments to the Railroad Retirement Accounts 0.9 0.9
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments — Recovery Act (no year dollars) 9.7 9.7
Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009
Administrative Expenses, Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments - -
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefits (no year dollars) 1a/ 87.0 84.7
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Enhanced Benefit Payments (no year dollars) 2241 222.7
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Waiver of 7 Day Period 37.2 36.8
Payment to Limitation on Administration 0.9 1.8
Administrative Expenses - -
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021
Payment to Limitation on the Office of Inspector General - -
Limitation on the Office of Inspector General 0.2 0.5
Administrative Expenses 17.6 25.7
Total $24,371.8 $29,779.2
FINANCING SOURCES FOR FISCAL YEAR
Social Security Equivalent Benefit Account $8,027.7 $7,395.5
Railroad Retirement Account 2/ (73.4) 9,912.9
Railroad Retirement Administrative Trust Fund 156.6 149.6
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund -
Benefit Payments 258.1 99.4
Administrative Expenses (0.4) (4.8)
Limitation on the Office of Inspector General 11.8 11.8
Dual Benefits Payments Account 9.6 10.7
Federal Payments to the Railroad Retirement Accounts 3/ -
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments — Recovery Act (no year dollars) - -
Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009
Administrative Expenses, Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments - -
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefits (no year dollars) 1a/ (2.3) 38.0
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Enhanced Benefit Payments (no year dollars) (1.4) 67.1
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Waiver of 7 Day Period (0.4) 7.1
Payment to Limitation on Administration 0.9 2.3
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021
Payment to Limitation on the Office of Inspector General 0.3 -
Limitation on the Office of Inspector General - -
Administrative Expenses 8.2 1.9
Total $8,395.3 $17,691.5
BENEFIT PAYMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 4/
Social Security Equivalent Benefit Account $7,908.9 $7,631.8
Railroad Retirement Account 5,642.9 5,633.9
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund -
Unemployment Insurance 27.8 75.9
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Sickness Insurance 62.6 81.0
Dual Benefits Payments Account 9.5 11.7
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments — Recovery Act (no year dollars) - -
Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009
Administrative Expenses, Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments - -
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefits (no year dollars) 1a/ (2.0) 38.1
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Enhanced Benefit Payments (no year dollars) (0.7) 67.5
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Waiver of 7 Day Period (0.4) 7.1
Payment to Limitation on Administration - -
Administrative Expenses - -

Total $13,648.6 $13,547.0

NRRIT-held net assets are a financing source and are included in the Railroad Retirement Account above.

1a/ Funds were reported in FY2019 as Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009.

Change in NRRIT-held net assets is included in the Railroad Retirement Account above.

Includes funds subsequently transferred to other accounts. Such inter-fund transfers are eliminated in the
preparation of the consolidated statements.

Net of recoveries and offsetting collections; excludes SSA benefit payments.

The RRPB’s financial statements are comprised of: Balance Sheet and Statements of Net Cost,
Changes in Net Position, Budgetary Resources, and Social Insurance, Changes in Social
Insurance Amounts, and notes which are an integral part of the statements. We also present, as
required supplementary information, a discussion of the actuarial outlook for the railroad
retirement program, and the Disaggregate of Budgetary Resources.

Comparison of Net Cost of Operations and Financing Sources

The net cost of operations for fiscal years 2022 and 2021 was $13,796.0 million and $13,708.6
million, respectively. The details of the net cost of operations by type, amount, increase or
decrease, and percentage change from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022 are shown below.
Additional information regarding the net cost of operations and financing sources for fiscal years
2022 and 2021 is shown on the following pages.

NET COST OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

(In millions)

Amount of Percent of

Increase Increase
FY 2022 FY 2021 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Interest expense — Treasury borrowing $89.6 $98.9 $(9.3) (9.4)%
Salaries and expenses 172.4 182.6 (10.2) (5.6)%
Benefits expense 13,556.8 13,446.6 110.2 0.8%
Other expenses 54 9.3 (3.9) (41.9)%
Subtotal 13,824.2 13,737.4 86.8 0.6%
Less: Earned revenues (28.2) (28.8) 0.6 21%
Net cost of operations $13,796.0 $13,708.6 $87.4 0.6%
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FY 2022
NET COST OF OPERATIONS
(In millions)
Benefits Expense
$13,556.8
98.1%

Other Expenses

Salaries and /

$5.4

Expenses Interest Expense 0.1%
$172.4 $89.6
1.2% 0.6%

Totals $13,824.2 million, excluding reimbursements, and earned revenues of ($28.2) million.

FY 2021
NET COST OF OPERATIONS

(In millions)
Benefits Expense

$13,446.6
/ 97.9%

Salaries and /

Other Expenses

$9.3
Expenses Interest Expense 0.1%
$182.6 $98.9
1.3% 0.7%

Totals $13,737.4 million, excluding reimbursements, and earned revenues of $(28.8) million.
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The following table shows financing sources (excluding changes in unexpended appropriations)
by type, amount, increase or decrease, and percentage change from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal

year 2022.
FINANCING SOURCES (Unaudited)
(in millions)
Amount of Percent of
Increase Increase
FY 2022 FY 2021 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Budgetary Financing Sources:
Appropriations used $955.6 $1,464.2 (508.6) (34.7) %
Taxes and other non-exchange revenues:

Payroll taxes 6,148.3 5,306.6 841.7 15.9%

Interest revenue and other income 41.7 37.9 3.8 10.0%

Carriers refunds — principal (35.4) (37.6) 22 59 %

Railroad Unemployment Insurance (RUI) Revenue 278.8 1121 166.7 148.7%

Subtotal $7,389.0 $6,883.2 $505.8 7.3%

Transfers in:

Financial Interchange, net 5,166.7 4.174.2 992.5 23.8%

NRRIT 1,964.0 2,838.0 (874.0) (30.8) %

Subtotal $7,130.7 $7,012.2 $118.5 1.7%

TOTAL BUDGETARY FINANCING SOURCES $14,519.7 $13,895.4 $624.3 4.5 %
Other Financing Sources:
Imputed financing 7.5 7.4 0.1 1.4%
Change in NRRIT net assets (5,507.8) 3,662.6 (9,170.4) (250.4) %
Gain/(Loss) in Contingency (9.3) 1231 (132.4) (107.6) %
Accruals for Capital Transfers (346.7) 0.0 (346.7) N/A
Capital Transfer (270.1) 0.0 (270.1) N/A
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (6,126.4) 3,793.1 (9,919.5) (261.5) %
TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES $8,393.3 $17,688.5 ($9,295.2) (52.5) %

The most significant difference between the RRB’s financial statements for fiscal year 2021 and
fiscal year 2022 was the change in NRRIT net assets and Increase in Payroll Taxes. The NRRIT
net assets decreased by approximately $5,507.8 million due to market fluctuations during the
past year. There is a section later in this publication that describes the NRRIT, and the NRRIT
net assets balances for 2021 and 2022 are shown in the RRB’s Financial Section of this

publication.
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Financing Sources FY2022
(millions)
8,000 1 $7,130.7

$6,433.4

6,000 4
4,000 A

2,000 - $955.6

§7.5

0 A

(2,000) ($346.7) ($270.1)

(4,000)

(6,000) A ($5,507.8)

(8,000) -
Transfers  Appropriations  Taxes and Imputed Change in Accruals for Capital
In Used Other Financing NRRIT Capital Transfer
Non-Exchange Net Assets Transfer
Revenues

Total Financing Sources $8,402.6 million, excluding ($9.3) million loss on contingency.

Financing Sources FY2021

(millions)

8,000 -

$7,012.2

6,000

$3,662.6

4,000

2,000

$7.4

Transfers Appropriations Used  Taxes and Other Imputed Financing  Change in NRRIT
In Non-Exchange Net Assets
Revenues

Total Financing Sources $17,565.4 million, excluding $123.1 million gain on contingency.
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Railroad Retirement Investments at Treasury

The book value of all railroad retirement investments, including accrued interest, increased to
$1,884.9 million as of September 30, 2022, from $1,819.4 million on September 30, 2021
(excludes NRRIT net assets). The graph below reflects the book value of the railroad retirement
investments from September 30, 2018, through September 30, 2022.

INVESTMENT BALANCES HELD AT TREASURY (AT BOOK VALUE)
AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 - 2022

(In millions, excluding NRRIT net assets)

$1,884.9

1,900 - $1,792.5 $1,819.4
1,800 -

700 | 816713
1,600 -
1,500 -

1,400 ~

1,200 ' '
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

The following chart shows the portfolio of the railroad retirement investments as of
September 30, 2022

RAILROAD RETIREMENT INVESTMENTS HELD AT TREASURY
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

AT BOOK VALUE
Total $1,884.9

RR Account
(In millions, excluding NRRIT net assets) $773.1
41.0%
SSEB /
Account__
$1,111.8

59.0%
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Railroad Retirement Account

On September 30, 2022 and 2021, the book values of the RR Account investments, excluding
NRRIT assets, including accrued interest, totaled $773,062,169 and $862,954,512, respectively.
The balance on September 30, 2022, consisted of $772,325,000 in 3.375 percent par value
specials (with market value equal to face value) maturing on October 3, 2022, and $737,169 in
accrued interest. The balance on September 30, 2021, consisted of $861,767,000 in 3.000
percent par value specials (with market value equal to face value) maturing on October 1, 2021,
and $1,187,512 in accrued interest. Par value specials mature on the first working day of the
month following the month of issue and have a yield based on the average yield of marketable
Treasury notes with maturity dates at least 3 years away.

Social Security Equivalent Benefit Account

On September 30, 2022 and 2021, the book values of the SSEB Account investments, including
accrued interest, totaled $1,111,817,745 and $956,400,134, respectively. The balance on
September 30, 2022, consisted of $1,109,772,000 in 3.375 percent par value specials maturing
on October 3, 2022, and $2,045,745 in accrued interest. The balance on September 30, 2021,
consisted of $955,174,000 in 3.000 percent par value specials maturing on October 1, 2021, and
$1,226,134 in accrued interest.

National Railroad Retirement Investment Trust

The NRRIT was established by the Railroad Retirement and Survivors’ Improvement Act of 2001
(RRSIA). The sole purpose of the NRRIT is to manage and invest railroad retirement assets.
The NRRIT is a tax-exempt entity, independent from the Federal Government and not subject to
Title 31, United States Code (USC). The NRRIT is domiciled in and subject to the laws of the
District of Columbia.

The NRRIT is comprised of a Board of seven trustees: three selected by railroad labor unions
and three by railroad companies. The seventh trustee is an independent member selected by
the other six. Members of the Board of Trustees are not considered officers or employees of the
Government of the United States.

The RRSIA authorizes the NRRIT to invest railroad retirement assets in a diversified investment
portfolio in the same manner as those of private sector retirement plans. Prior to the RRSIA,
investment of railroad retirement assets was limited to U.S. Government securities.

The NRRIT and the RRB are separate entities. The RRB remains a federal agency and
continues to have full responsibility for administering the railroad retirement program, including
eligibility determinations and the calculation of benefit payments. The NRRIT has no powers or
authority over the administration of benefits under the railroad retirement program. Under the
RRSIA, the NRRIT is required to act solely in the interest of the RRB, and through it, the
participants and beneficiaries of the programs funded under the RRA. The RRSIA does not
delegate any authority to the RRB with respect to day-to-day activities of the NRRIT, but the
RRSIA provides that the RRB may bring a civil action to enjoin any act or practice of the NRRIT
that violates the provisions of the RRSIA or to enforce any provision of the RRSIA.

Under the RRSIA, the financial statements of the NRRIT are required to be audited annually by
an independent public accountant. In addition, the NRRIT must submit an annual management
report to the Congress on its operations, including a Statement of Financial Position, a Statement
of Operations, a Statement of Cash Flows, a Statement on Internal Accounting and
Administrative Control Systems, the independent auditor’s report, and any other information
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necessary to inform the Congress about the operations and financial condition of the NRRIT. A
copy of the annual report must also be submitted to the President, the RRB, and the Director of
OMB.

Social Insurance: Key Measures

Balance Sheet: The Balance Sheet displayed in the Financial Section presents our assets,
liabilities, and net position. Total assets for fiscal year 2022 are $31.0 billion, a 14.3 percent
decrease over last year. Of the total assets, $23.0 billion relates to funds held by the NRRIT.
The net asset value of funds held by the NRRIT decreased from fiscal year 2021 by 19.3
percent. Our investments totaled $1.9 billion, and we invest those funds not needed to pay
current expenses or benefits in interest bearing Treasury securities. A chart of investment
balances held at Treasury can be found on page 28. Total liabilities for fiscal year 2022 are
$6.7 billion. Liabilities increased by $223.5 million or 3.5 percent in fiscal year 2022. Also,
benefits due increased by $25.6 million. By statute, benefits due in September are not paid until
October.

Statement of Net Cost: The Statement of Net Cost displayed in the Financial Section presents
the annual cost of operating our two major programs: 1) railroad retirement and 2) railroad
unemployment and sickness insurance. In fiscal year 2022, our net cost of operations was $13.8
billion, an increase over last year of $87.4 million, or 0.6 percent. A table for the net cost of
operations for fiscal years 2022 and 2021 can be found on page 24.

Statement of Changes in Net Position: The Statement of Changes in Net Position displayed in
the Financial Section reflects the changes that occurred within cumulative results of operations
and unexpended appropriations. Total net position for 2022 is $24.4 billion. The statement
shows a decrease in the net position of the agency of $5.4 billion attributable to the change in
cumulative results of operations. Total financing sources for 2022 are $8.4 billion. A table for
financing sources for fiscal years 2022 and 2021 can be found on page 26.

Statement of Social Insurance: Federal accounting standards require the presentation of a
Statement of Social Insurance (SOSI) as a basic financial statement. The SOSI presents the
present values of estimated future revenue and expenditures of the Railroad Retirement
program. The SOSI covers a period of 75 years in the future, and the information and
disclosures presented are deemed essential to the fair presentation of this statement.

The open group as of the valuation date includes current participants who have attained
retirement age under the Railroad Retirement program, current participants who have not yet
attained retirement age, and those expected to become participants, or new entrants. The
closed group as of the valuation date includes only current participants: (1) those who have not
yet retired but are active workers paying payroll taxes, (2) those who have retired and are
receiving benefits, and (3) those who are not currently working but have sufficient service to be
eligible for future benefits. The closed group measure represents a reasonably good estimate of
the extent to which benefits of the closed group are funded by members of the closed group. The
open group measure is inherently more sensitive to assumptions about the distant future than
the closed group measure. The open group measure gives a more complete assessment of the
long-term financial stability of the program because it includes all those who are projected to be
participants in the program over the given projection period, whether paying payroll taxes or
receiving benefits.

The net present value (NPV) of estimated future expenditures less estimated future revenue (net
expenditures) for all participants over the next 75 years (open group) changed from $24.7 billion
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as of September 30, 2020, to $29.1 billion as of September 30, 2021, a net change in the open
group measure of $4.4 billion, when rounded. Note that the Social Insurance information in the
Table of Key Measures shows future expenditures less future revenue, while the Statement of
Social Insurance shows future revenue less future expenditures. This change in presentation in
the Table of Key Measures is done to eliminate any ambiguity in the interpretation of percentage
changes in negative amounts.

As can be seen on the Statement of Changes in Social Insurance Amounts, the change in the
valuation period (from fiscal years 2021-2095 to fiscal years 2022-2096) resulted in a change of
$1.8 billion in the open group measure. There were no changes in the demographic
assumptions other than updates to the mortality loads, but there were updates to projected levels
of railroad employment and demographic data. Changes in demographic data, assumptions,
and methods resulted in a change of $0.2 billion in the open group measure. Select
assumptions for the Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA), wage increase, and investment return
were updated, as described in the notes to the Statement of Changes in Social Insurance
Amounts found in Note 13. Social Insurance. A change in the open group measure of $2.4
billion is due to changes in economic data, assumptions, and methods. This year there were no
changes in methodology or in law or policy.

The financial statements are based on the selection of accounting policies and the application of
significant accounting estimates, some of which require management to make significant
assumptions. Further, the estimates are based on current conditions that may change in the
future. Actual results could differ materially from the estimated amounts. The financial
statements include information to assist in understanding the effect of changes in assumptions to
the related information.
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TABLE OF KEY MEASURES (Unaudited)
As reported in As reported
Dollars in Millions FYp2022 in FYp2021 Incregse / (Deo/crease)
(]
COSTS
Total Financing Sources $8,393.3 $17,688.6 ($9,295.3) (52.5)%
Less: Net Cost 13,796.0 $13,708.6 87.4 0.6%
Net Change of Cumulative Results of Operations ($5,402.7) $ 3,980.0 ($9,207.9) (231.4)%
NET POSITION
Assets $31,045.6 $36,229.5 (5,183.9) (14.3)%
Liabilities 6,673.8 $6,450.3 223.5 3.5%
Net Position (Assets minus Liabilities) $24,371.8 $29,779.2 ($4,960.4) (16.7)%
Dollars in Billions 10/1/2021 10/1/2020 lncregse / (Di/crease)
(1)
SOCIAL INSURANCE
SOCIAL INSURANCE?
Social Insurance Net Expenditures (Open Group) $29.1 $24.7 $4.4 17.8%

3 Source: Statement of Social Insurance (SOSI). Amounts reflect estimated present value of projected
revenue and expenditures for scheduled benefits over the next 75 years. The SOSI shows future revenue
less future expenditures while the Key Measure above shows future expenditures less future revenue.

This change in presentation is done to eliminate any ambiguity in the interpretation of percentage changes in
negative amounts. Included in Net Expenditures is the Asset Experience Gain/(Loss) for the period
10/1-12/31 following. Note that detail may not add to total due to rounding.

Pandemic Relief Acts

As a result of the catastrophic economic hardship caused by the novel coronavirus (COVID-19),
the President signed a series of legislative acts meant to address the economic fallout of the
2020 coronavirus pandemic in the United States. On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed
Public Law (P.L.) 116-136, Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 (CARES
Act). The CARES Act included three provisions that impacted the payment of benefits under the
Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act, each having a separate Treasury appropriation for the
payment of those benefits.

Section 2112 of the CARES Act provided for the waiver of the 7-day waiting period for both
unemployment and sickness benefits for registration periods beginning March 28, 2020 through
periods beginning December 31, 2020. This provision was funded by a separate Treasury
appropriation of $50M and was payable until the end of a person’s entitlement or until the
appropriation ran out, whichever came first.

Section 2113 of the CARES Act provided for the payment of enhanced unemployment benefits in
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the amount of $1,200.00 for registration periods beginning on or after April 1, 2020 through
periods beginning July 31, 2020. This provision was funded by a separate Treasury
appropriation of $425M and was payable until the end of a person’s entitlement or until the
appropriation ran out, whichever came first.

Section 2114 of the CARES Act provided for the payment of extended unemployment benefits
for anyone who received regular unemployment benefits in the benefit year that began July 1,
2019, and ending June 30, 2020. Employees with less than 10 years of service were entitled to
65 days of extended unemployment benefits and employees with 10 or more years of service
were entitled to 65 additional days of extended unemployment benefits through registration
periods beginning December 31, 2020. This provision was funded by a separate Treasury
appropriation of using remaining funds previously appropriated under P.L. 111-5, American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and P.L. 111-92, Worker, Homeowner, Business
Assistance Act of 2009 of approximately $142M. These benefits were payable until the end of a
person’s entitlement or until the appropriation ran out, whichever came first.

The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (H.R.133, P.L. 116-260) and its Continued
Assistance to Rail Workers Act of 2020 subsection subsequently extended the same provisions
previously allowed under the CARES Act, through September 6, 2021. Listed below are the
notable differences between the two Acts and the original CARES Act, and the American Rescue
Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA), which was the last act the agency administered:

o The Treatment of Payments from the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Account
subsection of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 allowed for the temporary
removal of sequestration from all RUIA benefits for days beginning January 3, 2021.
Sequestration will be re-instated 30 days following the Presidential declaration of the
end of the national emergency caused by the pandemic.

¢ ARPA extended the eligibility period for extended unemployment benefits to anyone who
received regular unemployment benefits in the benefit year that began July 1, 2021 and
ends June 30, 2022.

e ARPA also provided for an additional $2M appropriation for the payment of extended
unemployment benefits

All the relief acts allowed for the continued use of remaining funds previously appropriated as
described above in addition to the newly established Treasury accounts created for the additional
CARES Act provisions. Additionally, the CARES Act provided an additional $5M for the RRB’s
Limitation of Administration account to remain available until September 30, 2021. The funding
provided therein is to prevent, prepare for, and respond to coronavirus, including the purchase of
information technology equipment to improve the mobility of the workforce and provide for
additional hiring or overtime hours as needed to administer the Railroad Unemployment
Insurance Act. ARPA provided an additional funds for the same. For COVID-19 related funding
and activity, see financial statements note 24. COVID-19 Activity.

All the pandemic relief acts listed above have been implemented by the RRB.
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Analysis of Systems, Controls and Legal Compliance

Management Assurances

As of September 30, 2022, the Railroad Retirement Board states and assures that, to the best of our
knowledge:

1. The Railroad Retirement Board (RRB) management is responsible for managing risks and
maintaining effective internal control to meet the objectives of Sections 2 and 4 of the
Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA). The RRB conducted its assessment of
risk and internal control in accordance with OMB Circular No. A-123, Management’s
Responsibility for Enterprise Risk Management and Internal Control. Based on the results of
the assessment, the Agency can provide reasonable assurance that the internal controls
within our authority were operating effectively over operations, reporting, external reporting,
and compliance as of September 30, 2022, except for the following material weakness:

Pursuant to implementation of the Statement of Federal Financial Accounting
Standards 47 (SFFAS 47), effective in fiscal year 2018, the Office of Management and
Budget (OMB), the Department of the Treasury (Treasury), and the United States
Government Accountability Office (GAQ) determined that the NRRIT will be classified
as a consolidation entity, for the purposes of the governmentwide financial statements.
Based upon this determination, NRRIT’s Net Asset Value must be included within
RRB’s Balance Sheet, even though the NRRIT is independent from the RRB and is a
non-governmental entity. In accordance with the SFFAS 47 determination, the NRRIT
and GAO signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) in October 2018 that
provided the GAO access to information necessary to support inclusion of the NRRIT’s
financial information in the governmentwide financial statements starting in fiscal year
2018. The RRB was not a party to this agreement.

The RRB does not have authority to compel the NRRIT auditors to provide their work
papers or speak with RRB’s auditors. Regarding the NRRIT, the RRB provides
reasonable assurance that the internal controls within our authority were operating
effectively over operations, reporting, external reporting, and compliance and in
accordance with the MOU between the RRB, NRRIT, Treasury and OMB entered into
in 2002.

Until additional guidance is issued this reported material weakness will exist due to an
inability for the auditors to perform the audit procedures required by AICPA AU-C
Section 600B Special Considerations — Audits of Group Financial Statements
(Including the Work of Component Auditors), to assess the internal controls over
financial reporting related to the National Railroad Retirement Investment Trust
(NRRIT) Investment Net Asset Value as reported in RRB’s Balance Sheet.
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In accordance with the Federal Information Security Modernization Act of 2014 (FISMA), this
agency has established an Information Security Program and practices and has
implemented controls to support the Cybersecurity framework; however, additional work is
needed to achieve a rating of effective. This agency’s financial management system is
managed under contract and is a comprehensive proprietary software application from CGI
Federal — Momentum Enterprise Solution — that resides on a cloud hosting service and is
discussed in detail in the Financial Management Systems Strategy Section. As a result, the
agency’s FISMA overall maturity level does not directly impact its financial management
system.

The financial management systems of this agency maintain accountability for assets and
provide reasonable assurance that obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable
laws, and that performance data and proprietary and budgetary accounting transactions
applicable to the agency are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the timely
preparation of accounts and reliable performance information. The financial management
systems at this agency satisfy the requirements of the Section 4 of the FMFIA.

The financial management systems of this agency provide the agency with reliable, timely,
complete, and consistent performance and other financial information to make decisions,
and efficiently operate and evaluate programs and substantially satisfies the requirements of
the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 and OMB Circular No. A-11,
Preparation, Submission and Execution of the Budget.

In accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB), M-18-16, Appendix A to OMB
Circular No. A-123, Management of Reporting and Data Integrity Risk, we can provide
reasonable assurance that the Data Quality Plan and its associated internal controls
substantially support the reliability and validity of this agency’s account-level and award-
level data reported for display on USASpending.gov in compliance with the Digital
Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act).

Original signed by:

Erhard R. Chorlé, Chairman
John Bragg, Labor Member

Thomas Jayne, Management Member
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Management Control Review Program

Internal control is a process effected by an entity’s oversight body, management, and other
personnel that provides reasonable assurance that the objectives of the entity will be met. We
have a well-established agency-wide management control program as required by the Federal
Managers’ Financial Integrity Act of 1982 (FMFIA). To achieve the goals of the FMFIA, RRB
program and administrative activities incorporate internal controls that ensure 1) accountability
for mission accomplishment, 2) continual monitoring and periodic control testing, 3) weaknesses
are identified and corrected, and 4) appropriate levels of management are informed and
positioned to act timely to prevent or correct problems and initiate improvements.

Our managers are responsible for ensuring effective internal control in their areas of operation.
Those managers provide annual certifications that attest to the effectiveness of their controls and
operations. Organizational heads also submit annual certifications to the Board providing
reasonable assurance that 1) obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;

2) funds, property, and other assets are safeguarded against waste, loss, unauthorized use, or
misappropriation; 3) revenues and expenditures applicable to agency operations are properly
recorded and accounted for to permit the preparation of accounts and reliable financial and
statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the assets; and 4) programs are efficiently
and effectively carried out in accordance with applicable laws and management policies. Our
Management Control Review Committee ensures our compliance with FMFIA and other related
legislative and regulatory requirements.

We continued to make strides implementing Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) at the RRB by
leveraging the Management Control Review (MCR) infrastructure already in place. We
previously reported progress in fiscal year 2020, where we successfully incorporated an ERM
based reporting structure into the MCR guide, which enhanced our ability to identify potential
events that may affect the agency and manage the related risks within our risk appetite. In fiscal
year 2021, we fully implemented ERM into the MCR reporting process with risk assessments
based on likelihood, impact, and control effectiveness and trained responsible officials on the
new process. In fiscal year 2022, we entered year two of full ERM implementation and our
efforts to strengthen our internal control environment were recognized by RRB’s OIG through
closure of Audit Report No. 18-07, Recommendation No. 1. We are committed to strong internal
controls and will continue refining and enhancing our MCR/ERM program.

Financial Statement Audit

The RRB’s Office of Inspector General (OIG) contracted with RMA Associates LLC (RMA) to
render audit opinions on RRB’s fiscal year 2022 consolidated financial statements and on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. We expect to again receive a Disclaimer of Opinion on RRB’s
fiscal year 2022 financial statements as of and for the year ended September 30, 2022, due to
lack of access to the National Railroad Retirement Investment Trust (NRRIT) or NRRIT’s auditors
for the purposes of conducting RRB’s consolidated financial statement audit pursuant to American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants auditing standards. Additionally, RMA will issue a
Disclaimer of Opinion on RRB’s fiscal year 2022 Internal Control over Financial Reporting
(ICOFR) based, in part, on the same matter and on other material weaknesses that reportedly
exist.

As previously communicated to the OIG and now RMA, the Railroad Retirement and Survivors’
Improvement Act of 2001 (the Act) states that NRRIT is not a department, agency, or
instrumentality of the Federal Government, and is not subject to Title 31 of the U.S. Code. The Act
further states that the NRRIT shall annually engage an independent qualified public accountant to
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audit the financial statements of the NRRIT, and shall transmit the audited financial statements,
together with an Annual Management Report, to Congress and the Executive branch. There is no
other legal basis or requirement for NRRIT to provide financial information to another party
outside of that which is specified in the Act.

The Agency will continue to cooperate with the RMA and provide all NRRIT related information
within its possession which the RMA requests. The RRB does not have the authority to compel
the NRRIT auditors to provide their work papers to, or speak with, the RMA. We have provided
the RMA access to NRRIT related information in accordance with the 2002 Memorandum of
Understanding between the RRB, NRRIT, Department of the Treasury and the Office of
Management and Budget' and all other information related to NRRIT in our possession and
control that the RMA requested in support of its audit.

Pursuant to implementation of the Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 47
(SFFAS 47), effective in fiscal year 2018, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), the
Department of the Treasury (Treasury), and the United States Government Accountability Office
(GAO) determined that the NRRIT will be classified as a consolidation entity, for the purposes of
the governmentwide financial statements. Based upon this determination, NRRIT’s Net Asset
Value must be included within RRB’s Balance Sheet, even though the NRRIT is independent from
the RRB and is a non-governmental entity. In accordance with the SFFAS 47 determination, the
NRRIT and GAO signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) in October 2018 that provided
the GAO access to information necessary to support inclusion of the NRRIT’s financial information
in the governmentwide financial statements starting in fiscal year 2018.2 The RRB was not a
party to this agreement.

Again, the RRB does not have authority to compel the NRRIT auditors to provide their work
papers or speak with RRB’s auditors. Until additional guidance is issued this reported material
weakness will exist due to an inability for the auditors to perform the audit procedures required by
AICPA AU-C Section 600B Special Considerations — Audits of Group Financial Statements
(Including the Work of Component Auditors).

For fiscal year 2022, the RMA asserts that 9 material weaknesses and 1 non-compliance with
laws and regulations reportedly exist. The RRB adamantly disagrees and non-concurs with
RMA’s assertion that 9 material weaknesses and 1 non-compliance existed as of and for the year
then ended September 30, 2022, please refer to RRB’s Management Response accompanying
the auditor’s report in the Financial Section of this Performance and Accountability Report.

Federal Information Security Modernization Act

During fiscal year 2022, the RRB continued to build upon its successes in improving the security
posture of the agency. All selected cloud environments, namely IBM zCloud, and Microsoft’s
(MS) Azure and MS M365 clouds received full Authorities to Operate (ATOs). Additionally, the
RRB completed its implementation of shared cybersecurity services for Continuous Diagnostic
and Mitigation (CDM), and its modernization of its intrusion detection system. Implementation of
the federally directed zero trust architecture strategy continued in fiscal year 2022, with the RRB
implementing many controls using tools and services available in MS Azure and M365 cloud

1 MOU for the Budgetary, Accounting, and Financial Reporting Responsibilities Respecting Assets Held by the National Retirement
Investment Trust entered into by the RRB, NRRIT, Department of the Treasury (Treasury), Office of Management and Budget (OMB),
October 2002 (on file at RRB).

2 MOU for the NRRIT Inclusion in Government-Wide financial Statements and GAO Access to Information, entered into by the
National Railroad Retirement Investment Trust (NRRIT) and the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO), dated October 31,
2018 (on file at RRB).
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environments. These actions directly and strongly impacted our ability to improve the overall risk
management posture for the agency. Through these efforts, we addressed and closed 21
POAMs and 23 OIG findings during fiscal year 2022. As the RRB continues to develop and
implement its IT modernization initiatives, we will proactively address the remaining findings and
recommendations in order to improve the Agency’s security posture and to sustain at acceptable
levels.

Preliminary audit results for the fiscal year 2022 FISMA audit indicate that Kearney & Company
will assess our overall maturity at Level 2 — Defined, maintaining the rating from 2021. ltis
important to note the fiscal year 2022 FISMA Audit was significantly modified in scope due to
changes pursuant to the Core Inspector General (IG) Metrics for fiscal year 2022 as determined
pursuant to OMB Memorandum, M-22-05, Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Guidance on Federal
Information Security and Privacy Management Requirements. Much of the success the RRB
realized in the implementation of new services and achievement of full authorities was not part of
the measured scope of the fiscal year 2022 FISMA audit. The RRB successfully conducted two
full disaster recovery tests during the fiscal year, but that significant achievement bore minimal
impact on the fiscal year 2022 FISMA scores. The RRB will continue to work to maximize its
performance against the measured controls as it continues to modernize its enterprise. The RRB
will continue to make incremental steps to reach the overall maturity goal of Level 4 — Managed
and Measurable.

Financial Management Systems Strateqy

The RRB is committed to an integrated and automated financial management system that
focuses on the agency’s mission and accountability. Our goals are to (1) achieve compliance
with applicable laws, regulations, standards and requirements; (2) identify requirements for
financial systems support; (3) improve and facilitate user access to financial information;

(4) reduce redundant data entry, storage and processing; and (5) improve security, control and
disaster recovery capability for information processed and stored on remote servers, mainframe,
local area network and personal computer systems.

The RRB’s financial management system is a comprehensive proprietary software application
from CGI Federal — Momentum Enterprise Solution — that resides on a cloud hosting

service. The RRB’s system is referred to as the Financial Management Integrated System
(FMIS). Momentum meets the core financial system requirements set by the Financial Systems
Integration Office (FSIO) and is Federal Enterprise Architecture compliant. The hosting service
is also provided by CGI Federal which is a commercial shared service provider for financial
system services. Its cloud system has achieved compliance with the General Services
Administration’s (GSA) FedRAMP security requirements and is an authorized cloud service
provider. As such, FMIS is separate and distinct from RRB’s internally managed Agency
Enterprise General Information Systems (AEGIS), Benefit Payment Operations (BPO) and
Financial Interchange (FI) system.

FMIS supports the RRB’s budget formulation and execution, general ledger and trust fund
accounting, procurement, contract management, fixed assets, accounts payable and both
administrative and program accounts receivable requirements. In order to facilitate meeting the
Integrated Award Environment (IAE) initiative managed by GSA, Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) as
well as additional mandatory enhancements, the RRB has contracted with CGI Federal to
upgrade the FMIS software (Momentum Financials) from version 7.6 to version 7.9. The
upgraded version went live March 31, 2022.
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The RRB currently utilizes both commercial and Federal shared service providers for other E-
Government functions, including payroll (GSA), travel (CWTSatoTravel) and employee relocation
services (Bureau of the Fiscal Service). The RRB’s human resources shared service provider is
IBM (i.e. GSA, RRB’s previous provider, transitioned the functions to IBM in FY 2019). The
payroll and travel functions are integrated with FMIS through electronic interfaces.

Forward-Looking Information

Information Technology Modernization

Our mission essential programs are straining under the burden of being maintained by legacy
computer systems built 40 years ago. To continue providing the excellent service to our
beneficiaries, our IT modernization efforts are being leveraged to transform these legacy
systems and build modern digital services while safeguarding information anywhere, anytime, in
all ways throughout the information life cycle. As part of modernization, we have the opportunity
to leverage more efficient and effective technologies that will positively impact our infrastructure
and use of software applications and data to provide timely and accurate services to our
customers. The modernization will require an updated architecture to directly address our
service delivery from a managed cloud services perspective. With ever increasing IT security
and privacy risks, we aim to make our systems and processes more robust with advanced
privacy and security controls. This IT modernization is a three-phased, iterative and incremental
approach to confirm program integrity and meet operational performance standards, all while
improving our customer’s experiences with our services.

In fiscal year 2021, we took a new strategic direction and transitioned the RRB’s computer
mainframe operations, located at RRB’s Data Center and disaster recovery site to IBM
operations on the IBM zCloud for Government. The transition provides RRB optimization of
mainframe operations and enables further Information Technology Modernization and
Application Modernization. In fiscal year 2022, we completed the final phase of the RRB Data
Center Mainframe Migration to the IBM Cloud project. We also initiated in FY 2021 and
completed in FY 2022, the migration to cloud email through Microsoft’s cloud solution (M365). In
addition, we implemented Microsoft Teams, SharePoint Online, and awarded contracts for the
completion of the remaining infrastructure components for the Stabilize Phase, the first of our
three-phased strategy — Stabilize | Modernize | Perform.

Additionally, in FY 2022, to strengthen the cybersecurity of the agency and improve information
security monitoring, we implemented Continuous Diagnostics and Mitigation (CDM) in
partnership with the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and the Cybersecurity
Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA). We also completed full authorities to operate (ATOs) for
each new cloud environment. Finally, to transition our telecommunications services from Networx
to Enterprise Infrastructure Solutions (EIS), we accomplished all installation efforts except for
hardware that was delayed due to global supply chain challenges. In FY 2023, we expect to
complete the EIS transition and close the Stabilize Phase, positioning the Agency to enter its
Modernize Phase focused on the creation and delivery of citizen-centric online services. These
improvements will provide the RRB with the opportunity to more efficiently and effectively carry
out its mission and serve our citizens.

Human Capital Management

The RRB continues to place emphasis on the strategic management of our human capital,
particularly in the areas of workforce planning, knowledge management, training, development,
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recruitment and succession planning. In this past year, and in order to move the RRB forward in
terms of its human capital management, RRB defined, refined and redefined personnel practices
and policies to ensure employee performance is tied to and otherwise aligned with the effective
and efficient accomplishment of the RRB’s mission and our commitment to the railroad public we
serve. We have done so by developing, procuring or maximizing human capital technologies,
streamlining human capital practices, and branding our recruitment strategies and efforts. We
continue to evaluate human capital efforts to ensure we maintain a developed, diverse, inclusive,
engaged and accountable workforce and seek industry benchmarks and practices so as to
develop and train our employees and supervisors both in technical and soft skills in alignment
with our agency mission, values and goals.

Summary of Actuarial Forecast

The Statement of Social Insurance (SOSI) presents an actuarial analysis of the financial position
of the railroad retirement system as of October 1, 2021, under our intermediate employment
assumption. The Required Supplementary Information presents sensitivity analyses showing the
impact of changes in employment and investment return assumptions. Although under our
intermediate assumption no cash flow problems arise during fiscal years 2022-2096, the
sensitivity analyses show that, under the current financing structure, actual levels of railroad
employment and investment return over the coming years will determine whether additional
corrective action is necessary.

Section 7105 of the Technical and Miscellaneous Revenue Act of 1988 requires the RRB to
submit an annual report to Congress on the financial status of the railroad unemployment
insurance system. Projections were made for the various components of income and outgo
under each of three employment assumptions for the 11 fiscal years 2022-2032. The results
indicate that experience-based contribution rates will respond to fluctuating employment and
unemployment levels and, with short-term borrowing, will maintain the solvency of the Railroad
Unemployment Insurance Account (RUIA).

Due to the pandemic and its impact on unemployment and sickness claims, the Railroad
Retirement Account extended $120 million in loans to the RUIA during 2020 and early 2021, as
provided for by Section 10(d) of the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act. The system
resolves itself when excess RUIA taxes are collected through a combination of experience rating
surcharges and lower unemployment/sickness benefits. Based on the June 2022 Section 7105
Report, these outstanding loans are expected to be repaid by the end of fiscal year 2022,
although experience may be worse than projected. Under the pessimistic assumption, there is
the possibility of a short-term loan in fiscal year 2027 that will be repaid in the same fiscal year.

Limitations of the Financial Statements

The limitations of the principal financial statements are as follows:

The principal financial statements are prepared to report the financial position and results of
operations of the reporting entity, pursuant to the requirements of 31 U.S.C. § 3515(b). The
statements are prepared from the books and records of the entity in accordance with Federal
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and the formats prescribed by OMB. Reports used to
monitor and control budgetary resources are prepared from the same books and records. The
financial statements should be read with the realization that they are for a component of the U.S.
Government.
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PERFORMANCE SECTION (Unaudited)

Government Performance and Results Act Report

The following performance report is based on the major goals and objectives for fiscal year 2022
from the RRB’s Annual Performance Plan. The indicators we developed support our mission
and communicate our intentions to meet challenges and seek opportunities for greater efficiency,
effectiveness and economy.

To achieve our performance goals, the RRB holds managers accountable for achieving program
results and improving program effectiveness by focusing on results, service quality and customer
satisfaction. In addition, the annual performance plan is used to help managers improve service
delivery by requiring that they plan for meeting program objectives and by providing them with

information about program results and service quality. To provide reasonable assurance that the

reported performance information is relevant and reliable, performance goals are incorporated
into performance standards for managers and supervisors and monitored on an agency-wide

basis.

The following is a consolidated presentation of our actual performance for fiscal years 2019
through March 31, 2022 (except as noted), followed by a discussion of our unmet performance
goals and objectives for fiscal year 2021. At the time this report was prepared, actual fiscal year
2022 information was unavailable. Unmet fiscal year 2022 goals and indicators will be presented
in next year’s report. This performance report was prepared by RRB employees.

Railroad Retirement Board
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan

2019 Actual
(At $123.5m 2)

2020 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2021 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2022 Planned ¥
(At $123.5m)

2022 Actual ¥
(At $124.0m ¢

STRATEGIC GOAL I: Modernize Information Technology (IT) Operations to Sustain Mission Essential Services

Strategic Objective: Legacy Systems Modernization

Goal leader: Terryne F. Murphy, Chief Information Officer

I-A-1. Prepare to consolidate and New Goal New Goal Azure Azure
rationalize applications to improve the f f Miaration: Miaration: Goal
effectiveness and efficiency of mission or or gration: gration: Complete
. . FY 2021 FY2021 100% 100%
essential functions.
I-A-2. Evaluate the results of the
customer surveys obtained through the
LSMS re-engineering assessment
contract deliverable to identify and deliver Nev¥0?oal Nev¥0?oal 100% Goal Goal
a broader range of online citizen centric FY 2021 FY 2021 ? Complete Complete
services that will specifically address our
customer’s expectations and improve
overall customer service.
I-A-3. Transition Mission Essential Goal Goal
Programs from the End-of-Life Mainframe 10% 50% 100%
Complete Complete
hardware.
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Railroad Retirement Board 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Actual |2022 Planned ¥| 2022 Actual ¥
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan (At$123.5m 2) | (At$123.5m ¥) | (At $123.5m %) | (At $123.5m) | (At $124.0m %)
|-A-4. Evaluate the re-engineering
assessment contract deliverable and New Goal New Goal
determine a modernization path forward for for 100% Goal Goal
consistent with agency priorities and within ? Complete Complete
: : o FY2021 FY 2021
available funding to address mission
critical functions.
I-A-5. Enhance infrastructure components
to stabilize the information systems and the New Goal New Goal o o Goal
For for 100% 100% Complete
related ecosystems to prepare for the FY 2021 FY2021
modernize phase.
I-A-6. Complete the development of New Goal New Goal New Goal
business rules strategy and data layer for for for 75% 25%
components of the modernization. FY2022 FY2022 FY2022
I-A-7. Deliver citizen-centric services and New Goal New Goal New Goal
applications to railroad employees through for for for 50% 0
mobile- and web-ready interfaces. FY2022 FY2022 FY2022
I-A-§3. Complete the streamlining 'of core New Goal New Goal New Goal
business processes and modernize key f f f 259 0
applications, which support these or or or 0
’ FY2022 FY2022 FY2022

processes.
I-A-9. Refln.e critical mqnagement o New Goal New Goal New Goal
processes in the following areas within the f f f 100% 50%
IT organization: change, project, program or or or ¢ o

; - ’ ’ FY2022 FY2022 FY2022
and configuration.
I-A-10. Evaluate the reengineering
assessment deliverables to determine a New Goal New Goal New Goal
cost effective path forward to application for for for 25% 50%
rationalization and streamline business FY2022 FY2022 FY2022
processes.
Railroad Retirement Board 2019 Actual | 2020 Actual | 2021 Actual | 2022 Planned ¥ | 2022 Actual ¥
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan (At$123.5m ?) | (At $123.5m ) | (At $123.5m ¥)| (At $123.5m) | (At $124.0m 5%

STRATEGIC GOAL II: Provide Excellent Customer Service

Strategic Objective: Pay benefits timely.

Goal leader for objectives II-A-1 through [I-A-5; 1I-A-7 and II-A-8: Arturo Cardenas, Director of Programs

Goal leader for objective |I-A-6: Mark Blythe, Director of Field Service
Goal leader for objective II-A-9: Spiridoula Mavrothalasitis, Director of Hearings and Appeals
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Railroad Retirement Board
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan

2019 Actual
(At $123.5m 2)

2020 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2021 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2022 Planned ¥
(At $123.5m)

2022 Actual ¥
(At $124.0m 58

1I-A-1. RRB makes a decision to pay
or deny a railroad retirement
employee or spouse initial annuity
application within 35 days of the
annuity beginning date, if advanced
filed.

(Measure: % < 35 days)

95.4%

96.4%

97.0%

94.0%

96.6%

1I-A-2. RRB makes a decision to pay
or deny a railroad retirement
employee or spouse initial annuity
application within 60 days of the date
the application was filed.

(Measure: % =< 60 days)

96.5%

97.5%

97.0%

94.0%

95.7%

1I-A-3. RRB makes a decision to pay,
deny or transfer to SSA an initial annuity
application for a railroad retirement
survivor not already receiving a benefit
within 60 days of the annuity beginning
date, or date filed (whichever is later).

(Measure: % < 60 days)

96.0%

95.0%

92.2%

94.0%

88.2%

1I-A-4. RRB makes a decision to pay,
deny or transfer to SSA an initial annuity
application for a railroad retirement
survivor already receiving benefits as a
spouse within 30 days of the RRB’s
receipt of first notice of the employee’s
death.

(Measure: % < 30 days)

96.6%

95.2%

94.8%

94.0%

93.8%

1I-A-5. RRB makes a decision to pay
or deny a lump sum death benefit
within 60 days of the date the
application was filed.

(Measure: % =< 60 days)

97.3%

97.3%

95.0%

96.0%

92.6%

1I-A-6. RRB certifies a payment or
releases a letter of denial of Ul or S
benefits within 10 days of the date RRB
receives the claim.

(Measure: % < 10 days)

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

98.5%

99.9%

1I-A-7. RRB makes a decision to pay or
deny a benefit for a disabled applicant or
family member within 100 days of the
date the application is filed.

(Measure: % =< 100 days)

12.5%

13.5%

18.6%

70.0%

12.6%
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Railroad Retirement Board
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan

2019 Actual
(At $123.5m 2)

2020 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2021 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2022 Planned ¥
(At $123.5m)

2022 Actual ¥
(At $124.0m 58

1I-A-8. RRB makes a paymentto a
disabled applicant within 25 days of the
date of decision or earliest payment
date, whichever is later.

(Measure: % < 25 days)

85.2%

88.5%

87.5%

92.0%

87.1%

1I-A-9. Reduce the number of days
elapsed between the date the appeal is
filed and a decision is rendered.

(Measure: average elapsed days)

207

205

208

207

178

Strategic Objective: Provide a range of choices in service delivery methods.
Goal leader: Arturo Cardenas, Director of Programs

11-B-1. Offer electronic options to our
customers, allowing them alternative
ways to perform primary services via the
Internet or interactive voice response
systems.

(Measure: Number of services
available through electronic media)

19 services
available

19 services
available

19 services
available

23 services
available

19 services
available

11-B-2. Enable employers
to use the Internet to
conduct business with the
RRB, in support of the
Government Paperwork
Elimination Act.

a) Employers
using
ERS:

(Measures: percentage of
employers who use
electronic media to file
reports; number of
services available through
electronic media)

b) Internet
services:

99.2%

98.9%

99.1%

99.0%

99.5%

30 Internet
services
available

30 Internet
services
available

30 Internet
services
available

31 Internet
services
available

30 Internet
services
available

Railroad Retirement Board
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan

2019 Actual
(At $123.5m %)

2020 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2021 Actual
(At $123.5m %)

2022 Planned ¥
(At $123.5m)

2022 Actual
(At $124.0m 5¢)

STRATEGIC GOAL Ill: Serve as Responsible Stewards for Our Customers’ Trust Funds and Agency Resources

Strategic Objective: Ensure that trust fund assets are protected, collected, recorded, and reported appropriately.
Goal leader: Shawna R. Weekley, Chief Financial Officer
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Railroad Retirement Board 2019 Actual | 2020 Actual 2021 Actual | 2022 Planned ¥| 2022 Actual "
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan (At$123.5m 2)| (At$123.5m )| (At$123.5m¥)| (At$123.5m) | (At $124.0m %¢)
11I-A-1. Debts will be collected through
billing, offset, reclamation, referral to
outside collection programs, and a variety
of other collection efforts. 91.70% 95.18% 88.68% 85.00% 89.46%
(Measure: total overpayments recovered
in the fiscal year / total overpayments
established in the fiscal year.)
Strategic Objective: Ensure the accuracy and integrity of benefit programs.

Goal leader IlI-B-1(a)(b) and 1lI-B-3, 4, and 5: Arturo Cardenas, Director of Programs

Goal leader IlI-B-2a: Mark Blythe, Director of Field Service

Goal leader 11I-B-2b: Micheal Pawlak, Director of Unemployment Payment Support Division
I1I-B-1. Achieve a
railroad retirement -
benefit payment a) Initial 99.83% 99.57% 99.79% 99.50% 99.82%

8/ payment
accuracy rate ¢ of at
least 99%.
(Measure: percent b) Sample A Tig;ble
accuracy rate) post 99.97% pp 99.59% 99.50% 99.29%
Post Study
Canceled
I1I-B-2. Achieve a
railroad a) Unemploy-
unemployment/sickness ment 96.23% 96.62% 97.58% 95.50% 93.97%
insurance benefit
payment accuracy rate &
of at least 99%.
(Measure: percent ,
accuracy rate) b) Sickness 97.93% 97.88% 97.38% 95.00% 97.32%
I1I-B-3. Overall Initial Disability
Determination Accuracy. 73.60% 86.10% |Not Available|  95.00% Not Available
(Measure: % of Case Accuracy)
I1I-B-4. Maintain the level of RRA
improper payments below the OMB Not Not Not Not Not Apolicabl
threshold. Applicable | Applicable Applicable | Applicable Reoptort?r?gl(:'jeliZf
(Measure: prior to fiscal year 2014, Reporting Reporting Reporting | Reporting b/
Relief Z Relief Z Relief 7 Relief Z

below 2.5%; beginning fiscal year
2014, below 1.5%)
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Railroad Retirement Board
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan

2019 Actual
(At $123.5m 2)

2020 Actual
(At $123.5m ¥)

2021 Actual
(At$123.5m %)

2022 Planned ¥
(At $123.5m)

2022 Actual ¥
(At $124.0m 5°))

I1I-B-5. Achieve a return of at least
$3.60 for each dollar spent on
program integrity activities.

(Measure for fiscal year 2011: recoveries
and savings per dollar spent. Measure
for fiscal years 2012 and following:
recoverables and savings per dollar
spent).

$6.66: $1.00

$6.03: $1:00

$7.38: $1.00

$3.85: $1.00

Not Available

Strategic Objective: Ensure effectiveness, efficiency, and security of operations.
Goal leader: Terryne F. Murphy, Chief Information Officer

I1I-C-1. Complete modernization of
RRB processing systems in
accordance with long-range
planning goals.

Complete

Complete

Complete

Complete

Complete

11I-C-2. Deliver — Deliver on Budget.
Percent of IT Projects costs within
10% of budgeted costs.

100%

100%

100%

85%

100%

a. Continuous
availability
target

111-C-3. Deliver —
Meet Customer
Expectations.

RRB.gov online b
services, continuous

availability
experienced by end
users.

. Hours of
outage
allowed per
month

98.99%

99.31%

98.80%

99.00%

99.64%

7.38 hours

4.83 hours

8.83 hours

7 hours

2.5 hours

I1I-C-4. Innovate — Design for Modularity.

Strategy for Continuity of Operations
Improvements.

Cloud
based
enterprise
test lab:
No.

Cloud
based
enterprise
test lab: No.

Microsoft
Azure
Cloud: Yes.

Microsoft
Azure
Cloud: Yes.

Microsoft
Azure
Cloud: Yes.

11I-C-5. Innovate — Adopt New
Technologies. Percentage of
investments that evaluated cloud
alternatives.

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

IlI-C-6. Protect — Email Data Loss
Prevention. Percentage of
externally bound emails and their
attachments automatically
encrypted that contain personally
identifiable or credit card
information.

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Railroad Retirement Board 2019 Actual | 2020 Actual 2021 Actual | 2022 Planned ¥| 2022 Actual "
Fiscal Year 2022 Performance Plan (At$123.5m 2)| (At$123.5m )| (At$123.5m¥)| (At$123.5m) | (At $124.0m %¢)
Unprivileged |Unprivileged | Unprivileged Unprivileged
I-C-7. Prot:act - Perceqtaget of 73% Users>66% | Users>54% | Users>85% Users>51%
agency employees required o use a Privileged Privileged Privileged | Privileged Users
Personal Identity Verification card to Users 63% Users 98% | Users 100% 100%

authenticate.

Strategic Objective: Effectively carry out responsibilities with respect to the National Railroad Retirement

Investment Trust.

Goal leader: Ana M. Kocur, General Counsel

IlI-D-1. Timely review information
reported by the National Railroad
Retirement Investment Trust to carry out
RRB'’s oversight responsibility under
section 15(j) (5) (F) of the Railroad
Retirement Act. Reports are to be
reviewed within 30 days of receipt.

(Measure: Yes/No)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Footnotes:

1/ Planned amounts reflect the fiscal year 2022 performance targets shown in the RRB’s Congressional
Justification of Budget Estimates, released on March 28, 2022.

Unless otherwise noted, actual results

represent status as of March 31, 2022, and as reported in the RRB’s FY 2024 Budget Submission, dated

September 12, 2022.

2/ Public Law 115-245, Department of Defense and Labor, Health and Human Services, and Education

Appropriations Act, 2019 and Continuing Appropriations Act, 2019, provided $123,500,000 in funding and

includes $10,000,000 devoted specifically to RRB information technology investment initiatives. The

$10,000,000 will remain available until expended.

3/ Public Law 116-94, the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020, provided $123,500,000 in funding and

includes $10,000,000 devoted specifically to RRB information technology investment initiatives. The

$10,000,000 will remain available until expended.

4/ Public Law 116-260, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, provided $123,500,000 in funding and includes
$9,000,000 devoted specifically to RRB information technology investment initiatives. The $9,000,000 will

remain available until expended.

5/ Public Law 117-103, the Consolidated Appropriation Act, 2022, provided $124,000,000 in funding.

6/ Fiscal year 2022 actual results represent status as of March 31, 2022 (except as noted).

7/ InFY 2018, OMB granted reporting relief for the RRA program because the improper payment analysis
demonstrated it consistently fell below the thresholds for significant improper payments. The RRA program went
into a three-year risk assessment cycle. In FY 2020, a risk assessment was conducted and found that the RRA
program continued to fall below the thresholds for significant improper payments and another three-year risk
assessment cycle began, now known as Phase 1. The RRA program is scheduled to conduct another risk
assessment in FY 2023 and is expected to remain below the statutory thresholds for significant improper

payments and stay in Phase 1.

8/ The payment accuracy rate is the percentage of dollars paid correctly as a result of adjudication actions

performed.
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Discussion of Unmet Performance Goals and Indicators for Fiscal Year 2021

INDICATOR

DISCUSSION OF VARIANCE

Performance Indicator 1I-A-3: RRB makes a decision to

pay, deny or transfer to SSA an initial annuity application
for a railroad retirement survivor not already receiving a
benefit within 60 days of the annuity beginning date, or
date filed (whichever is later). (Measure: % < 60 days)

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was 94.0%, and the actual was
92.2%.

RSBD’s Survivor Initial Section (SIS) is currently staffed with
new and inexperienced initial claims examiners who
completed initial training in August 2020. These new
examiners represent half of the entire SIS examining staff,
which contributed to delays in application processing for this
timeliness performance metric.

Performance Indicator [I-A-5: RRB makes a decision to

pay or deny a lump sum death benefit within 60 days of
the date the application was filed. (Measure: % < 60
days)

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was 96.0%, and the actual was
95.0%.

RSBD'’s Survivor Initial Section (SIS) is currently staffed
with new and inexperienced initial claims examiners who
completed initial training in August 2020. These new
examiners represent half of the entire SIS examining staff,
which contributed to delays in application processing for
this timeliness performance metric.

Performance Indicator [I-A-7: RRB makes a decision to

pay or deny a benefit for a disabled applicant or family
member within 100 days of the date the application is
filed. (Measure: % < 100 days)

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was 70.0%, and the actual was
18.6%.

DBD did not reach its goal of 70% initial filings rated
within 100 days due to DBD’s significant reduction of
cases with older filing dates. At the end of the fiscal year,
DBD had eliminated 2017 filings and only 21 cases
remained with filing dates from 2018, which is an 82.93%
decrease.

DBD did increase the percentage of cases rated within
100 days in FY21 compared to prior fiscal years by more
than 5% and improved the average processing time by
more than 30 days. The team will continue to prioritize
current calendar year pending, considering at the start of
the fiscal year approximately 73% of the pending work
had filing dates in 2021 per the workload management
tool, USTAR.
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INDICATOR

DISCUSSION OF VARIANCE

Performance Indicator 1I-A-8: RRB makes a payment to

a disabled applicant within 25 days of the date of
decision or earliest payment date, whichever is

later. (Measure for fiscal year 2008: % < 20

days. Measure for fiscal year 2009 and later: % < 25
days).

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was 92.0%, and the actual was
87.5%.

This payment goal is shared by both RBD and SBD. The
survivor disability initial application volume represents on
average approximately 10% of the initial disability
applications received annually. Since the SBD volume is
small, one missed payment can lower the overall payment
percentage. Both RBD and SBD were staffed with new
initial claims examiners that completed initial training in
IAugust 2020. The initial trainees were inexperienced in
adjudicating initial RBD and SBD disability cases. This
resulted in a larger volume of inexperienced retirement
and survivor initial claims examiners responsible for
adjudicating these cases.

Legal partition/garnishment adjustments also have a direct
impact on RBD’s ability to award initial disability payments
timely. Due to the nature of the legal partition/garnishment
work it's processed in the RBD Legal
Partition/Garnishment Unit and requires additional
processing, which cannot be handled by a GS-8 initial
retirement claims examiner. The Legal
Partition/Garnishment Unit in RBD remains understaffed.

RSBD is required to confirm annuitant addresses and
direct deposit information prior to finalizing the payment
award if the application filing date is six months or

older. The majority of disability applications are rated after
the six-month timeframe.

Performance Indicator 1I-B-1: Offer electronic options to

our customers, allowing them alternative ways to
perform primary services via the Internet or interactive
voice response systems. (Measure: Number of services
available through electronic media)

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was 23 services available, and
the actual was 19 services available.

Policy and Systems did not reach the projected goal of
23 internet services available for FY 2021 due to higher
priority projects including CARES, CARWA, and ARP
Acts, as well as zCloud and Azure Cloud migrations.

Performance Indicator 1I-C-3 Deliver — Meet Customer

Expectations.

RRB.gov online services, continuous availability
experienced by end users.

a. Continuous availability target
b. Hours of outage allowed per month

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was 7 hours, and the actual was
8.83 hours.

\Variance due to outages necessary to complete the
agency’s Mainframe Migration to the zCloud.
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INDICATOR

DISCUSSION OF VARIANCE

Performance Indicator |

1I-C-7. Protect — Percentage of

\Variance due to unforeseen challenges due to the pandemic

agency employees required to use a Personal Identity

Verification card to authenticate.

Our fiscal year 2021 goal was: Unprivileged Users>85%;

Privileged Users 100%.

Our fiscal year 2021 actual was: Unprivileged Users 58%;

Privileged Users 98%

and employee's ability to consistently visit a credentialing
center as before the pandemic started. These challenges
caused some of our users to be un-enforced, which resulted
in 58% for unprivileged network users. We started using a
different solution called CyberArk for tracking and protecting
the network for privileged network users. This increased the
agency’s enforcement of privileged users from the previous
fiscal year.

Program Evaluations

PROGRAM EVALUATION

RESULTS IN FISCAL YEAR 2022

Federal Managers’ Financial
Integrity Act Reports

See “Analysis of Systems, Controls and Legal Compliance” in the “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis” section.

Annual actuarial report required
by the Railroad Retirement Act
of 1974 and the Railroad
Retirement Solvency Act of
1983

The report, which was completed in June 2020, concludes that, barring a sudden,
unanticipated, large drop in railroad employment or substantial investment losses,
the railroad retirement system will experience no cash flow problems during the
next 25 years under any of the three employment assumptions. The report did not
include any recommendations for financing changes.

Railroad Unemployment
Insurance System, annual
report required by section 7105
of the Technical and
|Miscellaneous Revenue Act of
1988

The report, which was released in June 2020, addresses the 11 fiscal year period
2020 through 2030. The report indicated that even as maximum benefits are
expected to increase 44 percent from 2019 to 2030, except for small short-term
cash flow problems in fiscal years 2020-2022, experience-based contribution rates
are expected to keep the unemployment insurance system solvent. The report did
not include any recommendations for financing changes at this time.

Customer service performance
reports

'The RRB continuously monitors the timeliness and accuracy of our performance in
managing program workloads. These results are reflected in the performance
objectives shown in the charts within this Performance Section, and published on
our website at www.RRB.gov.

Program integrity report

Our most recent program integrity report was for fiscal year 2021. It showed that
program integrity activities resulted in the establishment of about $12.5 million in
recoverables, benefit savings of $1.9 million, and 43 cases referred to the Office
of Inspector General.

Quality assurance reviews and
special studies

RRA and RUIA adjudicative and payment accuracy is measured in regular
diagnostic reviews conducted by quality assurance staff within the RRB’s Program
Evaluation and Management Services (PEMS) component. Initial disability
determination accuracy is evaluated by quality assurance staff within PEMS and
by an external contractor (Juncture). PEMS also evaluates policies and processes
through special studies, as needed. PEMS reports to the Director of Programs.
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PROGRAM EVALUATION

RESULTS IN FISCAL YEAR 2022

Occupational disability reviews

IAdvisory doctors, representing the rail industry (labor and management), are
authorized by law to review agency medical decisions. Case review audits were
completed in 2000, 2008, and 2018.

Performance budget monitoring

Results of performance budget monitoring are shown in the chart of performance
objectives on the following pages. Actual performance data are reviewed,
validated and certified prior to inclusion in this report. Validation and certification
processes are documented as part of the RRB’s management control review
process.

Computer security and privacy
assessment

RRB continues to make progress toward achieving full certification and compliance
with the Federal Information Security Management Act (FISMA), Office of
Management and Budget directives and National Institute of Standards and
Technology guidance for its information systems as evidenced in the documented
improvements in FISMA metrics for FY2020.

Electronic government
(e-Gov) activities

See pages 53 through 54 of this section.

Payment integrity evaluation

See “Payment Integrity” in the “Other Information” section.

RRB Office of Inspector
General audits

See “Inspector General's Statement on Management and Performance
Challenges” and “Management’'s Comments” in the “Other Information” section.
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Automation, e-Government and Customer Service Initiatives

As the RRB continues its commitment to accomplish its top priority — the IT Modernization (or
RRB Transformation), during fiscal year 2022, there were several enhancements to existing
applications, which are intended to incrementally improve the services provided to the US
Railroad Industry.

In FY 2022, we continued adoption of the U.S. General Services Administration’s (GSA)
Login.gov service for identity proofing and multi-factor authentication at the RRB. The Login.gov
service was invaluable during the COVID-19 pandemic, as it allowed claimants to verify their
identity online and immediately apply for unemployment benefits, or file claims for unemployment
and sickness benefits, without calling, mailing forms, or visiting offices. Login.gov seamlessly
scaled up to accommodate increased traffic and usage due to the pandemic and extended
periods of unemployment, to meet the needs of claimants entitled to benefits under the Railroad
Unemployment Insurance Act (RUIA), the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of
2020 (CARES), the Continued Assistance to Railway Workers Act of 2020 (CARWA), and the
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA).

SPEED is an automation initiative designed to process post-entitlement annuity adjustments in
both retirement and survivor cases that result from excess earnings and work deductions.
SPEED allows the RRB to adjust annuity payments for earnings on a timely basis, which
minimizes any underpayments or overpayments that may result from changes in earnings.
SPEED is being built in a multi-phase approach. However, the agency’s re-platforming and
engineering projects starting in fiscal year 2020 and fiscal year 2021 have an impact on the
SPEED project. In consideration of those two higher priorities, in May 2020, we determined a
tentative priority ranking of deliverables for SPEED after the projects are completed. As such,
we have deferred the SPEED enhancements until completion of those higher priority projects.

Sequestration of RUIA Benefits

Under provisions of the Budget Control Act of 2011 (BCA), across-the-board cuts in Federal
spending took effect March 1, 2013. While railroad retirement, survivor and disability payments
are not affected by this measure, unemployment and sickness insurance benefits payable under
the RUIA are impacted. Benefits payable October 1, 2019, through September 30, 2020, were
reduced by 5.9 percent. The reduction was required by the sequestration order issued by the
President in accordance with the BCA. For fiscal year 2021, a sequestration reduction of 5.7
percent was applied starting on October 1, 2020, through January 2, 2021. For fiscal year 2022,
due to the pandemic, the sequestration order continued to be temporarily lifted under the
Continued Assistance to Railway Workers Act of 2020 for days beginning January 3, 2021, and
will be re-instated following the Presidential declaration of the end of the national emergency
caused by the same.

Strategic Management of Human Capital

Like many agencies, the RRB has an aging workforce. About 37 percent of our employees have
20 or more years of service and 26 percent of the current workforce will be eligible for retirement
by fiscal year 2022. To prepare for the expected turnover, the agency is placing increased
emphasis on strategic management of human capital. We have a succession plan in place which
includes a workforce analysis that identifies historical data, trends, and projected attrition to
evaluate and prioritize future needs and vacancies in our workforce. The results from the
workforce analysis form the basis for formulating specific strategies, hiring plans and initiatives
that support the agency’s succession plan. A methodology for measuring skill gaps continues to
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be developed. Once final, RRB will utilize our Learning Management System (LMS) to implement
the methodology. We have developed a job analysis procedure and outputs to identify critical
competencies for every agency position. Competencies will be organized using a newly
developed competency model framework that identifies RRB core, technical/position,
supervisor/leadership, and executive competencies, and proficiency levels for incumbent job
performer success. This process will allow the RRB to continuously and accurately identify skill
gaps at the individual level and take the necessary training and development steps to address
skill deficiencies.

The Training and Development Section within the Bureau of Human Resources continues to
utilize the results from training needs assessments and surveys to assist in prioritizing the RRB’s
training needs. We are also making use of technology in this area, utilizing the LMS, an internet-
based program which effectively formalizes many aspects of training for all agency employees,
while also providing self-assessments to the student and feedback to supervisors on their
progress. In addition, our Field Service supervisors/managers have access to the latest webinar
technology to facilitate the remote training of new employees, as well as the ongoing training of
experienced field staff.

The Workforce Organization Management Section (WOMS) identifies appropriate target markets
for our recruitment efforts to ensure we receive applications from a talented and diverse pool of
applicants. Through USAJOBS, we have been able to reach candidates from many sectors. We
also utilize different recruitment strategies, like resume mining and targeted advertising, to
ensure we are attracting quality candidates.

Information Security Program

We continue to make progress towards a compliant Information Security program to improve the
RRB's security posture. RRB has implemented an Information Security Continuous Monitoring
(ISCM) Strategy as outlined in OMB Memorandum M-20-04, Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Guidance on
Federal Information Security and Privacy Management Requirements. This strategy addressed
the gaps in the Information Security program. We partnered with the Department of Homeland
Security (DHS) in the Continuous Diagnostic and Mitigation (CDM) program and continue by
participating the CDM Dynamic and Evolving Federal Enterprise Network Defense (DEFEND)
program. This partnership with DHS further improves our Information Security continuous
monitoring compliance towards vulnerability assessment, hardware and software management,
configuration management, and privileged account management. The RRB continues to employ
the DHS EINSTEIN-3 Accelerated (E3A) toolset that ensures all of the Domain Name System
(DNS) and Simple Mail Transfer Protocol (SMTP) are monitored by these services as we
migrated to Microsoft Exchange Online.

We continue to manage the risk of the critical infrastructure considering asset management,
remote access, identity management, and network protection. Specifically:

¢ Assessment Management — we have enrolled in the DHS CDM DEFEND program to
provide better visibility of current hardware and software and to automatically detect
unauthorized hardware and software.

o The RRB has implemented each of the four phases of the CDM program and is
forwarding RRB data to the CDM Federal Dashboard:
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= Hardware Asset Management “HWAM?” to provide visibility into all
hardware devices on the RRB Network

» Vulnerability Management “VULN” to provide visibility to known
vulnerabilities present on the network

= Software Asset Management “SWAM” to provide visibility into all software
installed on the RRB network.

= Configuration Settings Management “CSM” to manage configuration
settings of assets on the RRB network.

Identity Management — The RRB enforces multi-factor authentication for general users
and have installed a privileged access management system (i.e., CyberArk) for system
administrators.

Remote Access — we deployed managed services for hardware encryption and have
upgraded our firewalls to strengthen information security controls for remote access.
Note: enforcement of PIV is instrumental for remote access.

Network Protection — as part of the RRB ISCM strategy, we will continue to improve the
Defense in Depth configuration in place, namely the Intrusion Prevention System (IPS),
Network Access Control (NAC), and the Security Information and Event Management
(SIEM).

Zero Trust Strategy - the RRB is developing a strategic approach to implementing
cybersecurity controls that secures our organization by eliminating implicit trust and
continuously validating every stage of network interaction pursuant to MOB Memorandum
M-22-09. Rooted in the principle of “never trust, always verify,” the RRB’s Zero Trust
strategy will be designed to protect our current environment, and as we modernize, our
future environments enabling a digital transformation by using strong authentication
methods, leveraging network segmentation, preventing lateral movement, providing layer
7 threat prevention, and simplifying granular, “least access” policies.
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RAILROAD RETIREMENT BOARD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021
{(in dollars)

Budgetary Resources

Unobligated balance from prior year budget authority, net (discretionary
and mandatory) (Note 26)

Appropriations (discretionary and mandatory)

Borrowing authority (discretionary and mandatory) (Note 18)

Spending authority from offsetting collections (discretionary and
mandatory)

Total budgetary resources

Status of budgetary resources

New obligations and upward adjustments (total)

Unobligated balance, end of year
Apportioned, unexpired accounts
Unapportioned, unexpired accounts
Unexpired unobligated balance, end of year
Expired unobligated balance, end of year

Unobligated balance, end of year (total)

Total budgetary resources

Outlays, net

Outlays, net (total) (discretionary and mandatory)
Distributed offsetting receipts (-)

Agency outlays, net {discretionary and mandatory)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Unaudited)
FY 2022

{(Unaudited)
FY 2021

$421,476,529
9,881,704,123
4,843,700,000

$512,219,620
9,934,906,053
5,028,800,000

106,468,134 184,795,226
$15,343,348,786 $15,660,720,899
$14,936,600,412 $15,250,326,726
343,472,023 381,500,228
10,181,672 11,880,161
353,653,695 393,380,389
53,004,679 17,004,784
406,748,374 410,394,173
$15,343,348,786 $15,660,720,899

$14,697,041,720

(5,928,109,000)

$15,030,176,234
(4,941,048,871)

$8,768,932,720

$10,089,127,363
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Notes to the Financial Statements: Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Unaudited)

A. Basis of Presentation

Public Law 107-289, the Accountability of Tax Dollars Act of 2002, added the RRB as an
agency required to prepare audited financial statements for fiscal year 2003, and subsequent
years. OMB guidance requires that Performance and Accountability Reports for fiscal year
2022 are to be submitted to the President, the Congress, and the Director of OMB by November
15, 2022. As required by law, OMB has also prescribed the form and content of financial
statements under OMB Circular A-136. The RRB’s financial statements were prepared in
accordance with the form and content prescribed by OMB and with generally accepted
accounting principles and standards prescribed by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory
Board (FASAB).

The principal statements (prepared on a consolidated basis, except for the Statement of
Budgetary Resources, which was prepared on a combined basis, and eliminating all significant
inter-fund balances and transactions) are comprised of the Balance Sheet and Statements of
Net Cost, Changes in Net Position, Budgetary Resources, Social Insurance, and Changes in
Social Insurance Amounts. These statements are different from the financial reports, also
prepared by the RRB pursuant to OMB directives, used to monitor and control the RRB's use of
budgetary resources.

The current year balance sheet net asset amount for the NRRIT is an unaudited figure that is
within acceptable materiality amount. It is used to meet the goal of November 15, 2022, for
release of the RRB’s financial statements. The prior year balance sheet NRRIT amount is
audited. The prior year balance sheet audited NRRIT amount was used in the computations for
the SOSI.

Accounting standards require all reporting entities to disclose that accounting standards allow
certain presentations and disclosures to be modified, if needed, to prevent the disclosure of
classified information.

B. Reporting Entity
The railroad retirement and the railroad unemployment and sickness insurance programs are
financed through the following accounts:

e Railroad Retirement Account, 60X8011, funds retirement, survivor, and disability
benefits in excess of social security equivalent benefits from payroll taxes on employers
and employees and other income sources. Account 60X8011 is considered a fund from
dedicated collections. Our authority to use these collections is 45 U.S.C. § 231f(c) (1).

e Social Security Equivalent Benefit Account, 60X8010, funds the portion of railroad
retirement benefits equivalent to a social security benefit from various income sources
related to these benefits. Account 60X8010 is considered a fund from dedicated
collections. Our authority to use these collections is 45 U.S.C. § 231n-1(c) (1).

e Dual Benefits Payments Account, 60 0111, funds the phase-out costs of certain vested
dual benefits from general appropriations. Account 60 0111 is considered a general
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fund. Our authority to use these collections is 45 U.S.C. § 231n (d).

Federal Payments to the Railroad Retirement Accounts, 60 0113, a two year fund, is
used as payment for interest on uncashed checks appropriated in fiscal year 2021, by P.
L. 115-245, Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020. Account 60 0113 is
considered a fund from dedicated collections

Federal Payments to the Railroad Retirement Accounts, 60X0113, was established by
OMB, not by legislation, and is used as a conduit for transferring certain income taxes on
benefits; and funds provided by the Tax Relief, Unemployment Insurance
Reauthorization, and Job Creation Act of 2010. Account 60X0113 is considered a fund
from dedicated collections. This account has no basis in law.

Limitation on Administration Account, 60 8237, pays salaries and expenses to
administer the railroad retirement program and the railroad unemployment and
sickness insurance program. This account is financed by the RR Account, the SSEB
Account, and the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund, Administrative
Expenses. Account 60 8237 is considered a fund from dedicated collections. Our
authority to use these collections is 45 U.S.C. § 231n-1(c) and 45 U.S.C. § 231n (h).

Limitation on Administration Account, 60X8237, Public Law 107-217, Sec. 121(d)(3),
authorizes Federal agencies to retain indefinitely as “no-year money” any unexpended
portion of the fiscal year appropriated funds, up to the estimated cost of the operation
and maintenance of the delegated properties. Funds carried over may only be
expended for operation and maintenance and repair of the facility. In addition, this
fund contains the Limitation on Administration funds for extended unemployment
benefits provided under Public Laws 111-92, 112-96, and 112-240. Account 60X8237
is considered a fund from dedicated collections.

Under ARPA of 2021, LOA 60X8237 received appropriations for hiring and IT from
pass thru account 60210121. This portion of funding for LOA 60X8237 is considered
as fund other than fund from dedicated collections.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund, Benefit Payments, 60X8051.001, funds
railroad unemployment and sickness insurance benefits from contributions by railroad
employers. Account 60X8051.001 is considered a fund from dedicated collections. Our
authority to use these collections is 45 U.S.C. § 360.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund, Administrative Expenses,
60X8051.002, was established to pay salaries and expenses to administer the
program. Account 60X8051.002 is considered a fund from dedicated collections. This
fund is financed by contributions from railroad employers. Monies are transferred from
this fund, based on cost accounting estimates and records, to the Limitation on
Administration Account (60 8237) from which salaries and expenses are paid for both
the railroad retirement program and the railroad unemployment and sickness insurance
program. Our authority to use these collections is 45 U.S.C. § 361.

Limitation on the Office of Inspector General, 60 8018, was established to fund the
administration of the Inspector General's Office. Account 60 8018 is considered a fund
from dedicated collections. Our authority to use these collections is Public Law 117-
103.
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Under ARPA of 2021, LOA 60X8018 received appropriations for audit, investigatory
and review activities from pass thru account 60210124. This portion of funding for LOA
60X8018 is considered as a Fund other than a fund from dedicated collections.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments — Recovery Act,
60X0114: Funds provided under Public Law 111-5, American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments, for Limitation Account —
60X0118: Funds provided under Public Law 111-92, Worker, Homeownership, and
Business Assistance Act of 2009, and Public Law 112-96, Middle Class Tax Relief and
Job Creation Act of 2012, and Public Law 112-240, American Taxpayer Relief Act of
2012.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Extended Benefit Payments — 60X0117: Funds
provided under Public Law 111-92, Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance
Act of 2009. Per Division A of the CAREs Act, section 2114 amends the extended
benefits that was originally created by ARRA to use of existing appropriation of $133
million. Under ARPA of 2021, additional appropriation is provided to cover the cost of
additional extended unemployment benefits to remain available until expended.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Waiver of 7 Day Period — 6020/210123: General fund
appropriation provided by Division A of the CAREs Act, section 2112.

Railroad Unemployment Insurance Enhanced Benefit Payments — 60X0122: General
fund appropriation provided by Division A of the CAREs Act, section 2113.

Payment to Limitation on Administration — 6020/210121: General fund provided by the
CAREs Act as a pass thru to LOA 6020/218237.

Payment to Limitation on Administration — 6021/210121: General fund provided by the
ARPA of 2021 as a pass thru to LOA 60X8237 (hiring and IT)

Payment to Limitation on Administration — 6021/210124: General fund provided by the
ARPA of 2021 as a pass thru to LOA 60X8018 for audit, investigatory and review
activities.

Limitation on Administration — 6020/218237: General fund passed thru from
6020/210121 under CAREs Act

General Fund 601099 - Transfer of Civil Monetary Penalty to the General Funds of the
U.S. Government

General Fund 603234 — Capital Transfer of Payroll Tax Shortfall to the General Fund of
the U.S. Government

-68 -



Financial Section (Unaudited)

C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Budget requests are prepared and submitted by the RRB in accordance with OMB Circular
A-11 and other specific guidance issued by OMB. The RRB prepares and submits to OMB
Apportionment and Reapportionment Requests (SF-132) in accordance with OMB Circular
A-11 for all funds appropriated by the Congress or permanently appropriated. Although OMB
may apportion funds by category, time period, or object class of expense, the RRB controls
and allocates all apportioned funds by three-digit object class codes of expense. For
budgetary accounting, all receipts are recorded on a cash basis of accounting and
obligations are recorded against the object class codes when they are incurred, regardless of
when the resources acquired are to be consumed. Obligations are amounts of orders
placed, contracts awarded, services received, and similar transactions during a given period
that will require payments during the same or a future period. The RRB prepares and
submits Reports on Budget Execution (SF-133) to OMB, reporting all obligations incurred
against the amounts apportioned.

D. Basis of Accounting

As required by law, the Dual Benefits Payment Account is on a cash basis of accounting.

Payroll taxes and unemployment contributions are recorded on a modified cash basis in
accordance with Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) No. 7. All other
transactions are recorded on an accrual basis of accounting and a budgetary basis. Under the
accrual method, revenues (except payroll taxes and unemployment contributions which are on a
modified cash basis) are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability
is incurred.

For budgetary accounting, financial transactions are recorded when obligations are incurred,
regardless of when the resources acquired are to be consumed.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the RRB include all funds maintained
by the RRB, after elimination of all significant inter-fund balances and transactions.

E. Concepts
The Fund Balance with Treasury (FBWT) is the aggregate amount of funds on deposit with the

Department of the Treasury, excluding seized cash deposited. The FBWT is increased by (1)
receiving appropriations, reappropriations, continuing resolutions, appropriation restorations,
and allocations; and (2) receiving transfers and reimbursements from other agencies. It also is
increased by amounts borrowed from the Bureau of the Fiscal Service, the Federal Financing
Bank, or other entities, and amounts collected and credited to appropriation or fund accounts.
The FBWT is reduced by (1) disbursements made to pay liabilities or to purchase assets,
goods, and services; (2) investments in U.S. securities (securities issued by the Bureau of the
Fiscal Service or other Federal Government agencies); (3) cancellation of expired
appropriations; (4) transfers and reimbursements to other entities or to the General Fund of the
Treasury; and (5) sequestration or rescission of appropriations.

F. Funds from Dedicated Collections

SFFAS No. 43, Funds from Dedicated Collections, amends SFFAS No. 27, Identifying and
Reporting Earmarked Funds. Generally, funds from dedicated collections are financed by
specifically identified revenues, provided to the government by non-Federal sources, often
supplemented by other financing sources, which remain available over time. These specifically
identified revenues and other financing sources are required by statute to be used for
designated activities, benefits, or purposes, and must be accounted for separately from the
government’s general revenues. Funds from Dedicated Collections should be shown as a
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separate presentation and disclosure in the financial statements. The three required criteria for
funds from dedicated collections are:

¢ A statute committing the Federal Government to use specifically identified revenues
and/or other financing sources that are originally provided to the Federal Government by
a non-Federal source only for designated activities, benefits, or purposes;

o Explicit authority for the fund to retain revenues and/or other financing sources not
used in the current period for future use to finance the designated activities, benefits, or
purposes; and

o Arequirement to account for and report on the receipt, use, and retention of the
revenues and/or other financing sources that distinguish the fund from the Federal
Government’s general revenues.

Refer to Note 16, Funds from Dedicated Collections.

G. Application of Critical Accounting Estimates

The financial statements are based on the selection of accounting policies and the application of
significant accounting estimates, some of which require management to make significant
assumptions. Further, the estimates are based on conditions that may change in the future.
Actual results could differ materially from the estimated amounts. The financial statements
include information to assist in understanding the effect of changes in assumptions to the
related information.

2. Related Parties (Unaudited)

The RRB has significant transactions with the following governmental and non-governmental
entities:

e Treasury collects payroll taxes from the railroads on behalf of the RRB. The taxes
collected are credited by Treasury to the RRB’s trust fund account via an
appropriation warrant. In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, net payroll taxes transferred to
the RRB by Treasury were $6.4 billion and $5.3 billion, respectively.

Treasury provides payment services to Federal agencies and operates collections and
deposit systems. The RRB invests in government account securities through the Bureau
of the Fiscal Service. In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, investments, including accrued
interest, totaled $1.9 billion and $1.8 billion, respectively. In addition, Treasury advances
funds to the RRB for the financial interchange which are repaid annually. The amount
paid by the RRB to Treasury in fiscal year 2022 due to the financial interchange
advances during fiscal year 2021 included principal of $5.0 billion and interest of $92.3
million. The amount paid by the RRB to Treasury in fiscal year 2021 due to the financial
interchange advances during fiscal year 2020 included principal of $4.9 billion and
interest of $99.9 million.

e SSA and RRB participate in an annual financial interchange. The financial interchange

is intended to place the social security trust funds in the same position in which they
would have been had railroad employment been covered by the Social Security Act and
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Federal Insurance Contributions Act. In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, the RRB trust funds
realized $5.5 billion and $4.9 billion through the financial interchange, respectively.

Under Section 7(b) (2) of the Railroad Retirement Act of 1974, the RRB is required to
pay certain individuals, described in this section, monthly social security benefits on
behalf of SSA. SSA reimburses the RRB for benefits paid on behalf of SSA. The
amounts reimbursed were $2.2 billion for fiscal year 2022 and $2.0 billion for fiscal year
2021.

CMS participates in the annual financial interchange in the same manner as described
for SSA. The RRB transferred $516 million and $568 million to CMS in fiscal years 2022
and 2021, respectively.

In addition to the financial interchange transactions, CMS reimburses the RRB for
certain expenses it incurs associated with administering the Medicare program. The
amounts reimbursed in fiscal years 2022 and 2021 were $13.6 million and $15.2 million,
respectively. The fiscal year 2022 amount does not include the funds received for
purposes of the SMAC contract which are recorded as a transfer and is described
below.

Finally, CMS funds are transferred to the RRB for the Specialty Medicare Administrative
Contractor (SMAC) contract that provides specified health insurance benefit
administration services.

GSA provides payroll processing and human resources services to the RRB. In
addition, the RRB paid rent to GSA in the amount of $2.3 million for fiscal year 2022
and $3.7 million for fiscal year 2021.

The Department of Labor invests RUIA contributions. Accounts receivable with the
Department of Labor amounted to $85.8 million and $28.5 million for fiscal years
2022 and 2021, respectively.

NRRIT transfers funds to the RRB for payment of railroad retirement benefits. During
fiscal years 2022 and 2021, the NRRIT transferred $1,964 million and $2,838 million,
respectively, to the RR Account. The NRRIT holds and invests funds not immediately
needed to pay benefits under the RRA. The net assets of the NRRIT are reported on
the RRB’s balance sheet as a non-governmental investment. The RRB reports this
information based on information provided by the NRRIT for that purpose.

-71-



3. Fund Balances with Treasury (Unaudited)

Financial Section (Unaudited)

Fund balances with Treasury at September 30 consisted of:

2022 2021
1. Status of Fund Balance with Treasury

(1) Unobligated Balance

(a) Available $343,472,023 $ 381,509,228

(b) Unavailable 10,181,672 11,880,161

(2) Obligated Balance not yet Disbursed 202,709,941 152,831,801

(3) Non-Budgetary FBWT - -

Total $556,363,636 $546,221,190

2. Other Information: The above represents cash held in Treasury. Unobligated and obligated funds not held

in cash are invested in Treasury securities.

4. Investments (Unaudited)

The investments in Treasury securities represent the investments of two of the RRB'’s funds
from dedicated collections, the RR and the SSEB Accounts.

Amounts for Balance Sheet Reporting

Cost Interest Receivable Investments Net

Intragovernmental Securities:

Non-Marketable Par Value 2022 $1,882,097,000 $2,782,914 $1,884,879,914

Non-Marketable Par Value 2021

$1,816,941,000 $2,413,646 $1,819,354,646

The balance on September 30, 2022, consisted of investments in 3.375 percent par value
specials (with market value equal to face value) maturing on October 3, 2022. The balance on
September 30, 2021, consisted of investments in 3.000 percent par value specials (with market
value equal to face value) maturing on October 1, 2021. Par value specials mature on the first
working day of the month following the month of issue and have a yield based on the average
yield of marketable Treasury notes with maturity dates at least 3 years away.

The Federal Government does not set aside assets to pay future benefits or other expenditures
associated with the RR and SSEB Accounts. The cash receipts from the railroads for the RR
and SSEB Accounts are deposited in the Treasury, which uses the cash for general government
purposes. Treasury securities are issued to the RRB as evidence of its receipts. Treasury
securities are an asset to the RRB and a liability to the Treasury. Because the RRB and the
Treasury are both parts of the Federal Government, these assets and liabilities offset each other
from the standpoint of the government as a whole. For this reason, they do not represent an
asset or a liability in the U.S. government-wide financial statements.

Treasury securities provide the RRB with authority to draw upon the Treasury to make future
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benefit payments or other expenditures. When the RRB requires redemption of these securities
to make expenditures, the government finances those expenditures out of accumulated cash
balances, by raising taxes or other receipts, by borrowing from the public or repaying less debt,
or by curtailing other expenditures. This is the same way that the Federal Government finances
all other expenditures.

5. NRRIT Net Assets (Unaudited)

The balance sheet amounts represent the net asset value of NRRIT assets, at fair value, as of
September 30, 2022 and 2021. These figures were provided to the RRB by the NRRIT for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021.

Readers of these financial statements should be aware that the Railroad Retirement and
Survivors’ Improvement Act of 2001 authorizes the NRRIT to invest railroad retirement assets in
a diversified investment portfolio in the same manner as those of private sector retirement
plans.
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e Intragovernmental

Financial Section (Unaudited)

Accounts receivable - Intragovernmental at September 30 consisted of:

2022

2021

Financial Interchange — Principal

$5,366,960,000

$5,197,500,000

Financial Interchange — Interest 96,840,000 87,800,000
Department of Labor 85,847,672 28,463,039
Total $5,549,647,672 | $5,313,763,039

e Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net at September 30 consisted of:

Long Island Railroad

2022 2021

Accounts receivable — Benefit overpayments $68,714,316 $57,208,926
Accounts receivable — Past due RUI contributions and
taxes 800,397 292,563
Accounts receivable — Interest, penalty & administrative
costs 8,869,814 7,750,617
Accounts receivable - Criminal Restitution 14,035,888 13,664,221

Sub-Total $92,420,415 $78,916,327
Accounts receivable - Criminal Restitution - 296,592,644 296,676,434

Total Gross Receivables

$389,013,059

$375,592,761

Less: Allowances for doubtful accounts 18,489,987 15,234,725
Less: Allowances for doubtful accounts-Criminal
Restitution 4,210,767 4,099,266
Less: AIIow.anclzes for doubtful accgunts-CrlmlnaI 293,626,717 293,709,670
Restitution -Long Island Railroad
Total Net Receivables $72,685,588 $62,549,100

The allowance for doubtful accounts for the railroad retirement program was calculated,
including debts classified as currently not collectible and excluding the criminal restitution

receivables, by averaging the percentages determined from the past five fiscal years of amounts

due the RRB that would probably not be collected, and applying those percentages against

accounts receivable.

The allowance for doubtful accounts for the criminal restitution is estimated at 30%. The

allowance for doubtful accounts for the criminal restitution — Long Island is estimated at 99% as
the probability of collecting full restitution is unlikely, given that the large Long Island restitution
amount due is from four individuals. The percentage is applied against the accounts receivable.
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These assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation/amortization. Beginning with

fiscal year 2014, acquisitions are capitalized if the cost is $50,000 or more and the service life is

2 years or greater. Depreciation/amortization is computed on the straight-line method. These

assets consisted of:

At September 30, 2022

Service Accumulated Net
Classes of Fixed Assets Lives Cost Depreciation Book Value
Structures, facilities, and leasehold
improvements 15 years $2,723,793 $2,723,793 $0
IT software 5 years 28,854,099 28,671,002 183,097
Equipment 5-10 years 7,042,673 7,032,780 9,893
Internal-Use Software in Development 2,649,221 2,649,221
Total $41,269,786 $38,427,575 $2,842,211
At September 30, 2021
Service Accumulated Net
Classes of Fixed Assets Lives Cost Depreciation Book Value
Structures, facilities, and leasehold
improvements 15 years $2,723,793 $2,723,793 $0
IT software 5 years 28,854,099 28,373,418 480,681
Equipment 5-10 years 7,042,673 7,024,632 18,041
Internal-Use Software in Development 1,270,987 1,270,987
Total $39,891,552 $38,121,843 $1,769,709

The table below discloses activity for General Property, Plant and Equipment as of September 30, 2022

and 2021, respectively (in dollars):

Capitalized Acquisitions

Depreciation Expense

General Property, Plant and Equipment - Ending Balances

General Property, Plant and Equipment - Beginning Balances

FY 2022 FY 2021
$1,769,709 $2,275,201
1,378,296 341,472
(305,794) (846,964)
$2,842,211 $1,769,709
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8. Liabilities (Unaudited)

Liabilities at September 30 consisted of:

e Total Liabilities Not Covered by Budgetary Resources:

2022 2021
A. Intragovernmental:
(1) Other Liabilities $238,850 $231,014
B. Other than Intragovernmental Liabilities:
(1) Accounts Payable 556,110 556,110
(2) Federal employee and veteran benefits payable 7,792,106 8,561,736
Total Other than Intragovernmental Liabilities 8,348,216 9,117,846
Total Liabilities Not Covered by Budgetary Resources $8,587,066 $9,348,860
Total Liabilities Covered by Budgetary Resources 6,659,942,823 6,437,196,694
Total Liabilities Not Requiring Budgetary Resources 5,301,175 3,770,324
Total Liabilities $6,673,831,064 | $6,450,315,878

o federal Debt and Interest Payable

Intragovernmental debt results from borrowing from Treasury to fund benefit payments from the
SSEB Account.

2022 2021

Beginning Balance, Principal
New Borrowing
Repayments

$4,567,300,000
4,843,700,000
(4,993,600,000)

$4,384,400,000
5,034,600,000
(4,851,700,000)

Ending Balance, Principal

$4,417,400,000

$4,567,300,000

Accrued Interest

35,146,221

37,840,569

Total

$4,452,546,221

$4,605,140,569

o Benefits Due and Payable

Benefits due and payable are accrued for all benefits to which recipients are entitled for the
month of September, which, by statute, are not paid until October. Also, liabilities are accrued

on benefits for past periods that have not completed processing, such as benefit payments due

but not paid. The amounts include uncashed checks of $17,864,144 and $ 16,732,442, at
September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Under Public Law 100-86, the amount of RRB
benefits represented by checks which remain uncashed for 12 months after the check issue
date are credited (including interest thereon) to the accounts from which the checks were
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drawn. The principal amount of uncashed checks must remain in a liability account until the
RRB determines that entitlement no longer exists, or another check is issued to the beneficiary.

A special workload of approximately 10,602 benefit cases, estimated at $5.2 million, has been
identified and will be processed over the next few years.

e Other Liabilities

Other liabilities at September 30 consisted of:

2022
Non-Current Current Total
Intragovernmental:
Employer Contributions & Payroll Taxes Payable $1,510,385 $1,510,385
Unfunded FECA Liability 238,850 238,850
Custodial Liability 346,702,099 346,702,099
Total Intragovernmental $348,451,334 $348,451,334
Other than Intragovernmental:
Other Liabilities With Related Budgetary Obligations 7,296,057 7,296,057
Accrued Payroll 1,514,511 1,514,511
Withholdings Payable 23,141 23,141
Contingent Liability (see Note 9 for details) $100,918,423 100,918,423
Other 17,899,693 17,899,693
Total Other than Intragovernmental 100,918,423 26,733,402 127,651,825
Total Other Liabilities $100,918,423 $375,184,736 $476,103,159
2021
Non-Current Current Total
Intragovernmental:
Employer Contributions & Payroll Taxes Payable $1,440,907 $1,440,907
Unfunded FECA Liability 231,013 231,013
Total Intragovernmental $1,671,920 $1,671,920
Other than Intragovernmental:
Other Liabilities With Related Budgetary Obligations 0 0
Accrued Payroll 4,438,226 4,438,226
Withholdings Payable
Contingent Liability (see Note 9 for details) $91,660,866 91,660,866
Other 16,816,049 16,816,049
Total Other than Intragovernmental 91,660,866 21,254,275 112,915,141
Total Other Liabilities $91,660,866 $22,926,195 $114,587,061
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Financial Section (Unaudited)

9. Commitments and Contingencies (Unaudited)

The RRB is involved in the following actions:

Legal Contingencies:

Several Class | railroads have filed claims for refund of taxes with the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS). Of the $22.1 million in claims, the RRB’s legal counsel has determined
that it is probable that the RR and SSEB Accounts are contingently liable for $22.1
million. Under the anti-disclosure provision of the IRS code, we are not permitted to
disclose any details related to these claims. No provision has been made in the
accompanying financial statements regarding the reasonably possible claims other than
this disclosure. Details may not add to totals due to rounding.

One railroad filed suit requesting a refund of $13.0 million for tax on stock transferred to
its employees upon the exercise of non-qualified stock options and the vesting of
performance stock or restricted stock units. The refund request also includes tax on
relocation benefits for the railroad employees and their families. The RRB’s general
counsel has determined that the likelihood of loss is probable.

Other Contingencies: We also recorded a contingent liability in the amount of $65.8 million, for
forthcoming adjustments to the financial interchange for military service credits due SSA.

Commitments: As of September 30, 2022, the RRB had contractual arrangements which may
result in future financial obligations of $42.3 million.

Contingent Loss Table

Estimated Range of Loss

FY 2022 Accrued Liabilities Lower End Upper End
Legal Contingencies:
Probable $35,118,423 $35,118,423 $35,118,423
Reasonably Possible $0 $0 $0
Other Contingencies:
Probable $65,800,000 $65,800,000 $65,800,000
Reasonably Possible $0 $0 $0

Estimated Range of Loss

FY 2021 Accrued Liabilities Lower End Upper End
Legal Contingencies:
Probable $26,560,866 $26,560,866 $26,560,866
Reasonably Possible $0 $0 $0
Other Contingencies:
Probable $65,100,000 $65,100,000 $65,100,000
Reasonably Possible $0 $0 $0
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10. Transfers To/From NRRIT (Unaudited)

Financial Section (Unaudited)

The RRB received a total of $1,964 million and $2,838 million from the NRRIT during fiscal
years 2022 and 2021, respectively. These funds were received into the Railroad Retirement

Account. Transfers were to fund the payment of benefits.

11. Undelivered Orders at the End of the Period (Unaudited)

2022 2021
Federal Undelivered Orders $0 $0
Non-Federal Undelivered Orders 50,345,739 38,305,869
Total Federal/Non-Federal Undelivered Orders $50,345,739 $38,305,869
Paid Undelivered Orders $0 $0
Unpaid Undelivered Orders 50,345,739 38,305,869
Total Paid/Unpaid Undelivered Orders $50,345,739 $38,305,869
Total Undelivered Orders $50,345,739 $38,305,869

12. Explanation of Differences Between the Combined Statement of Budgetary
Resources and the Budget of the United States Government (Unaudited)

A reconciliation was completed of budgetary resources, obligations incurred, distributed
offsetting receipts, and outlays, as presented in the Statement of Budgetary Resources for the
year ended September 30, 2021, to amounts